Aus dem Institut für Geschlechterforschung in der Medizin (GiM) der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

DISSERTATION

Sex differences in macrophage polarization in experimental autoimmune myocarditis (EAM)

Geschlechterunterschiede in der Makrophagen Polarisation bei experimenteller autoimmuner Myokarditis (EAM)

> zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor medicinae (Dr. med.)

vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

Maximilian Heinrich Niehues

aus Lüdinghausen

Datum der Promotion: 26. Juni 2022

Preamble

Parts of this work have already been published. The corresponding contributions are:

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek V. (2019). "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis." DZHK partner site retreat 2019.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek V. (2019). "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis." WCI 2019.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek V. (2019) "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis." ISHR 2019.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek. (2019). "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis." I & I 2019.

Maria Luisa Barcena, Sarah Jeuthe, Maximilian Heinrich Niehues, Sofya Podzniakova, Anja Andrea Kühl, Daniel Messroghli, Vera Regitz-Zagrosek, "Sex-specific differences of the inflammatory stage in experimental autoimmune myocarditis" Journal: Frontiers in Immunology, 2021

Parts of my dissertation were submitted for publication in Frontiers in Immunology on August 15, 2021 (manuscript title: "Male macrophages and fibroblasts are more susceptible to inflammatory stimulus").

Table of Contents

Tab	le of Contents
1	List of Abbreviations
2	List of Tables
3	List of Figures
4	Abstract10
5	Introduction12
5.1	Myocarditis12
5.2	Sex differences in autoimmune diseases16
5.3	Role of macrophages in chronic inflammation18
5.4	Working hypothesis and aims of this study22
6	Materials
6.1	Devices
6.2	Consumables24
6.3	Chemicals, media, buffers and solutions24
6.4	Buffers and solutions for western blotting26
6.5	Buffers and solutions for immunofluorescence28
6.6	Cell culture media29
6.7	Oligonucleotides
6.8	Antibodies
6.9	Kits
6.10	Cell lines
6.11	Animals and animal housing35
6.12	Software
7	Methods
7.1	Cytological techniques
7.1. 1	Cell culture and treatments
7.1.2	2 Counting of cells
7.2	Bone marrow-derived macrophages – cell culture experiments
7.3	Isolated murine cardiac fibroblasts – cell culture experiments
7.4	Cell culture experiments – stimulation protocols
7.4. 1	Macrophage polarization in M1 and M2 state
7.4.2	2 Fibroblast activation with TNF-α for 24 hours

7.4.3	Cell culture experiments – co-culture of fibroblasts/macrophages 39
7.5	Biochemical techniques
7.5.1	Protein extraction
7.5.2	2 Western blot analysis
7.6	Molecular biological techniques40
7.6.1	RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis40
7.6.2	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
7.6.3	3 Immunofluorescence of formaldehyde fixed cells
7.6.4	Sirius red staining of paraffin sections42
7.7	EAM treatment protocol42
7.8	Statistical analysis43
8	Results
8.1	Sex differences in EAM44
8.2	Cell culture experiments51
8.2.1	Cell culture experiments – macrophages
8.2.2	2 Cell culture experiments – fibroblasts60
8.2.3	Cell culture experiments – co-culture of fibroblasts/macrophages 61
9	Discussion
9.1	The need for subsequent experiments74
9.2	Translational science – future therapeutic attempts75
10	List of literature77
11	Eidesstattliche Versicherung101
12	Anteilserklärung an erfolgten Publikationen102
13	Curriculum Vitae104
14	Publikationen
15	Danksagung106
16	Bescheinigung Statistik

1 List of Abbreviations

(v/v)	(volume/volume)
(w/v)	(weight/volume)
Abl	Abelson murine leukemia viral oncogene homolog 1
ACE	angiotensin converting enzyme
Amp	ampicillin
Alpha-SMA	alpha-smooth muscle actin
ANOVA	analysis of variance
B-Cell	b lymphocyte
BCF	blood clotting factor
BMM	bone marrow-derived macrophage
BNP	brain natriuretic peptide
Вр	base pairs
BSA	bovine serum albumin
Cat.	catalogue
C/EBP	CCAAT-enhancer-binding proteins
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CAR	coxsackievirus adenovirus receptor
CCL	CC chemokine ligand
CD	cluster of differentiation
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CFA	Freund's Complete Adjuvant
COL3A1	collagen3 A1
CREB	CAMP-responsive element binding protein
C.S.	charcoal stripped
CTLA4	cytotoxic t-lymphocyte-associated protein 4
CVB3	coxsackie virus b3
CX3CR	C-X-3-C motif chemokine receptors
Cy3	cyanine
DAMP	damage-associated molecular pattern
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DCF	2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate, succinimidyl ester
DCM	dilated cardiomyopathy
DEPC	diethyl dicarbonate

Dextrin	(2-hydroxpropyl)-β-cyclodextrin
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DPBS	Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline
DPN	diphosphopyridine nucleotide
E2	17β-estradiol
EAM	experimental autoimmune myocarditis
ECL	extracellular chemiluminescence
ECG	electrocardiogram
EDTA	ethylene diamine tetra-acetic acid
e.g.	for example
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ER	estrogen receptor
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FCCP	carbonyl cyanide-4-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone
FEM	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin
FEM FITC	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein
FEM FITC FoxP3	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH Fyn	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH Fyn GBD	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH Fyn GBD GM-CSF	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease granulocyte monocyte – colony-stimulating factor
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH Fyn GBD GM-CSF GPER	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease granulocyte monocyte – colony-stimulating factor g-protein-coupled estrogen receptor
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH Fyn GBD GM-CSF GPER HCL	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease granulocyte monocyte – colony-stimulating factor g-protein-coupled estrogen receptor hydrogen chloride
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH Fyn GBD GM-CSF GPER HCL Hepes	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease granulocyte monocyte – colony-stimulating factor g-protein-coupled estrogen receptor hydrogen chloride n-2-hydroxcethylpiperazine-n-2-ethane sulfonic
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH Fyn GBD GM-CSF GPER HCL Hepes HPRT	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease granulocyte monocyte – colony-stimulating factor g-protein-coupled estrogen receptor hydrogen chloride n-2-hydroxcethylpiperazine-n-2-ethane sulfonic hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH Fyn GBD GM-CSF GPER HCL Hepes HPRT IGF	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease granulocyte monocyte – colony-stimulating factor g-protein-coupled estrogen receptor hydrogen chloride n-2-hydroxcethylpiperazine-n-2-ethane sulfonic hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase insulin-like growth factor
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH FSH GBD GM-CSF GPER HCL Hepes HPRT IGF	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease granulocyte monocyte – colony-stimulating factor g-protein-coupled estrogen receptor hydrogen chloride n-2-hydroxcethylpiperazine-n-2-ethane sulfonic hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase insulin-like growth factor immunoglobulin g
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH Fyn GBD GM-CSF GPER HCL Hepes HPRT IGF IgG	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease granulocyte monocyte – colony-stimulating factor g-protein-coupled estrogen receptor hydrogen chloride n-2-hydroxcethylpiperazine-n-2-ethane sulfonic hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase insulin-like growth factor immunoglobulin g interleukin
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH FSH GBD GBD GM-CSF GPER HCL Hepes HPRT IGF IGF IGF	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease granulocyte monocyte – colony-stimulating factor g-protein-coupled estrogen receptor hydrogen chloride n-2-hydroxcethylpiperazine-n-2-ethane sulfonic hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase insulin-like growth factor immunoglobulin g interleukin interleukin receptor
FEM FITC FoxP3 FSH FSH Fyn GBD GM-CSF GPER GPER HCL Hepes HPRT IGF IGF IGF IL ILR	Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin fluorescein forkhead box P3 follicle-stimulating hormone proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase fyn global burden of disease granulocyte monocyte – colony-stimulating factor g-protein-coupled estrogen receptor hydrogen chloride n-2-hydroxcethylpiperazine-n-2-ethane sulfonic hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase insulin-like growth factor insulin-like growth factor interleukin interleukin receptor

IRF	interferon regulatory factor
JAK	Janus kinase
kDa	kilo dalton
LH	luteinizing hormone
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
M0	not polarized macrophage
M1	proinflammatory macrophage (classically activated)
M2	not proinflammatory macrophage (alternatively activated)
M2b	immunoregulatory macrophage
M2c	tissue-repairing macrophage
mABs	monoclonal antibodies
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein 1
M-CSF	monocyte – colony stimulating factor
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
miRNA	micro ribonucleic acid
MMR	macrophage mannose receptor
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
MyD88	myeloid differentiation primary response 88
n.s.	not significant
NaCl	natrium chloride
NaOH	sodium hydroxide
NEAA	non-essential amino acid
ΝΓκΒ	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated b cells
NK-Cell	natural killer cell
P38	p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases
PAMP	pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PBMC	peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
pERK	phosphorylated extracellular signal-regulated kinase
PI3K	phosphoinositid-3-kinase
PIC	protein inhibitor cocktail
pP38	phosphorylated p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases

PPAR	peroxisome proliferator activated receptor
PRR	pattern recognition receptor
Relm Alpha	resistin-like alpha
RNA	ribonucleic acid
r.t.	room temperature
rpm	rounds per minute
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SEM	standard error of the mean
Sec	second
STAT	signal transducer and activator of transcription
TBS-T	tris buffered saline + tween-20
TEMED	n, n, n', n'-tetramethylethane-1,2-diamine
TGF-β	transforming growth factor beta
TH	t helper cell
TIM3	t-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing 3
TIMP	tissue inhibitor of matrixmetalloproteinase
TLR	toll-like receptor
TNF-α	tumour necrosis factor alpha
Treg	regulatory t-cell
TRIF	tir-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β
Tris	tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
YM1	chil3 chitinase like 3

2 List of Tables

Table 1: Used Oligo_(dT)-Primers, sequences, species, product length and accession number. Table 2: Antibodies used for western blotting, first and second antibodies, band size, catalog number; species: all appropriate for mouse and rat.

Table 3: Antibodies used for immunostaining, first and second antibodies, catalog number; species: all appropriate for mouse.

3 List of Figures

Figure 1: Ejection fraction of male EAM rodents decreases over time

Figure 2: Inflammatory infiltrates are found in male and female EAM heart sections, but fibrotic remodelling is only found in male ones

Figure 3: Increased fibrosis formation in male EAM heart sections

Figure 4: The population of CD68- and arginase-positive macrophages (M2) is higher in female EAM heart section infiltrates than in male ones

Figure 5: Upregulation of inflammatory markers iNOS and c-fos and fibrosis marker COL3A1 in male EAM heart samples

Figure 6: Activation of pERK (male only) and pp38 (male and female) pathways in EAM heart samples

Figure 7: Macrophage markers CD11b and F4/80 are expressed on isolated cells (BMM)

Figure 8: LPS promotes a stronger pro-inflammatory phenotype (M1) in male compared to female murine BMMs

Figure 9: LPS treatment increases the expression of NF κ B and promotes activation of p38 in male murine BMMs

Figure 10: IL-4 and IL-13 treatment promotes a stronger M2 phenotype in male BMMs

Figure 11: ERK and p38 are not activated by IL-4 and IL-13 treatment in murine BMMs

Figure 12: Estrogen treatment supports a pro-inflammatory phenotype (M1) in LPS-treated murine male BMMs

Figure 13: Estrogen treatment inhibits polarization of IL-4- and IL-13-treated male BMMs into anti-inflammatory macrophages (M2)

Figure 14: TNF-α activates primary murine adult cardiac fibroblasts

Figure 15: Conditioned medium from male pro-inflammatory macrophages is a stronger profibrotic activator of isolated murine cardiac fibroblasts compared to medium conditioned by female pro-inflammatory macrophages

Figure 16: Male and female M2-conditioned medium activates primary murine adult cardiac fibroblasts

Figure 17: Estrogen has no effects on the pro-inflammatory M1 environment regarding the ability to activate fibroblasts

Figure 18: Estrogen has no effects on the anti-inflammatory M2 environment regarding the ability to activate fibroblasts

4 Abstract

Male sex is a risk factor for higher rates of cardiac fibrosis, stronger cardiac inflammation and the development of dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) due to myocarditis. The chronic phase of the disease, with risk of DCM development due to cardiac fibrosis, is characterized by the absence of the primal trigger (e.g., viral progeny). It is remarkable that this form of cardiac autoimmunity is more prevalent in males than in females, although the overall prevalence of autoimmune diseases is higher in women due to estrogen's influence on immune responses. The majority of immune cells in the resting heart are macrophages. Mosser et al. described macrophage polarization using a spectrum of subtypes with heterogeneous purposes (e.g., tissue repair, immune regulation). Male rodents show stronger fibrosis in heart samples in experimental autoimmune myocarditis (EAM). My study aims to show sex differences in macrophage polarization in EAM, as macrophages are important regulators of fibrosis.

In EAM animals, we found more pro-inflammatory macrophage populations in male tissues and an increased presence of macrophage populations from the anti-inflammatory M2 spectrum in female tissues. Male EAM rats presented with a decreased ejection fraction in contrast to female rats. Moreover, male heart sections showed stronger fibrosis formation compared to female ones. *In vitro* experiments with macrophages and cardiac fibroblasts from wild type mice showed a stronger polarization into pro-inflammatory macrophages (M1) in male cells following LPS treatment as well as a stronger polarization of male cells into a pro-fibrotic M2 subtype following IL-4/IL-13 treatment. In co-culture experiments, conditioned medium from male M1 macrophages more strongly activated male cardiac fibroblasts. Moreover, male cardiac fibroblasts reacted to TNF- α treatment with stronger activation. A consistent effect of estrogen on macrophage polarization into M1 or pro-fibrotic M2 subtypes could not be demonstrated in *in vitro* experiments.

Conclusion: we found sex differences in EAM regarding a predominant anti-inflammatory M2 polarization of macrophages in female cardiac tissue compared to male animals. Based on these *in vitro* experiments, we conclude that the origin of increased fibrosis formation in male EAM animals is the preference of male macrophages to polarize more strongly into pro-fibrotic phenotypes of the spectrum.

Kurzdarstellung:

Männliches Geschlecht ist ein Risikofaktor für die Entwicklung von ausgeprägter kardialer Fibrose, stärkerer kardialer Entzündung und dilatativer Kardiomyopathie (DCM) aufgrund von Myokarditis. Die chronische Phase der Erkrankung mit kardialer Fibrose ist gekennzeichnet durch das Fehlen des ursprünglichen Auslösers (e.g. virale Partikel). Es ist auffällig, dass diese Form der kardialen Autoimmunität häufiger bei Männern vorkommt, obwohl die Prävalenz von Autoimmunkrankheiten höher bei Frauen ist. Die Mehrheit der Immunzellen im Herzen sind Makrophagen. Mosser et al. beschrieben die Polarisierung von Makrophagen in Subklassen als einen Vorgang, der zu Zellen mit sehr heterogenen Aufgaben (u.a. Gewebereparatur und Immunregulation) führt. Männlichen Ratten mit experimenteller autoimmuner Myokarditis (EAM) zeigen mehr kardiale Fibrose. Da Makrophagen wichtige Regulatoren von Fibrose Prozessen sind, versucht meine Studie Geschlechtsunterschiede in der Polarisierung von Makrophagen in EAM zu zeigen.

EAM Tieren zeigten mehr inflammatorische Makrophagen in männlichem Gewebe und eine vermehrte Präsenz von nicht entzündlichen Makrophagen des M2 Spektrums in weiblichem Gewebe. Männliche EAM Ratten zeigten eine stärker reduzierte Herzleistung als weibliche Tiere. In histologischen Herzschnitten zeigte männliches Herzgewebe eine stärkere Fibrosierung als weibliches Herzgewebe. In vitro Experimente mit Makrophagen und kardialen Fibroblasten von Wildtyp Mäusen zeigten eine stärkere Polarisierung nach LPS Behandlung von männlichen Zellen in einen inflammatorischen M1 Typ und eine stärkere Polarisierung nach IL-4/IL-13 Behandlung in einen profibrotischen M2 Subtyp. Ko-Kultur Experimente konnten zeigen, dass das von männlichen M1 Makrophagen konditionierte Medium männliche Fibroblasten stärker aktivieren konnte, als das ebenso konditionierte Medium weiblicher M1 Makrophagen weibliche Fibroblasten. Außerdem zeigten männliche kardiale Fibroblasten eine stärkere Aktivierung nach Behandlung mit TNF- α . Ein konsistenter Effekt von Östrogen auf die Polarisierung von Markophagen in den M1 oder den Fibrose induzierenden M2 Subtyp konnte nicht gezeigt werden.

Zusammenfassung: Es konnten Geschlechterunterschiede in EAM gezeigt werden hinsichtlich einer verstärkten M2 Polarisierung von Makrophagen in weiblichem Herzgewebe. In vitro Experimente konnten zeigen, dass die verstärkte kardiale Fibrose von männlichen EAM Tieren wahrscheinlich auf die Präferenz männlicher Makrophagen sich in profibrotische Subtypen des Spektrums zu polarisieren, zurückgeführt werden kann.

5 Introduction

5.1 Myocarditis

Myocarditis Definition

Myocarditis is an inflammatory state of the heart muscle characterized by the infiltration of several types of immune cells into the heart tissue. This inflammatory infiltrate consists of different immune cells.¹ Predominantly, macrophages and their differently polarized subtypes, namely T-cells like TH1 and TH2, TH17-type T-cells, and regulatory T-cells (FoxP3+/CD4+) infiltrate the tissue. ¹ Many factors influence the infiltrate composition, such as the cause of infection or the stage of the disease (acute, subacute and chronic). ¹ Failing regulation of the immune system's response to the primary trigger leads to ongoing inflammation followed by fibrosis, DCM and heart failure in the end stage of this disease.² Several pathogens have been described as inducing an inflammatory state in the human heart muscle. Three inflammatory triggers can be distinguished to classify myocarditis: infectious agents, immune-mediated myocarditis processes and cardiotoxins. Infectious myocarditis is the most common form of myocarditis, and coxsackieviruses are the leading cause.³ Treatment with several drugs used in the chemotherapy of oncologic patients, for example, can also cause myocarditis. This would be referred to as myocarditis due to cardiotoxins.⁴ The immune-mediated myocarditis form is a burden especially in patients after having received heart transplantation.⁵ Furthermore, there is strong evidence that the pathomechanism of autoimmune reactions of the human body against myocardial proteins plays a key role in the development of a post-viral chronic stage of the disease with ongoing inflammation, fibrosis and the development of DCM.² Most insights about myocarditis and post-myocarditis complications, such as autoimmunity, fibrotic remodelling and dilated cardiomyopathy, are obtained from animal models.⁶ Rose and colleagues observed that mice with coxsackievirus b3 (CVB3)-caused myocarditis developed a chronic stage of disease after the resolution of the viral cause. This post-viral inflammatory state was characterized by the appearance of antimyosin autoantibodies and fibrotic remodelling of the heart, leading to DCM.⁷ This gave rise to a new animal model, which models the chronic stage of post-viral heart inflammation. Mice or rats are immunized with cardiac myosin and Freund's Complete Adjuvant (CFA), which is an immunopotentiator derived from mycobacterium tuberculosis, and develop chronic myocarditis in order to model this chronic inflammatory state.⁸

Myocarditis – chronic inflammation, cardiac autoimmunity and DCM

There is broad agreement that viral infections are the number one cause of myocarditis. ⁹ Nevertheless, it is not easy to determine the leading virus species that cause myocarditis or the most common one that leads to DCM development. ¹ Using molecular biological methods to examine biopsies taken from patients with myocarditis or DCM, different viral species were detected, such as enteroviruses, parvovirus b19 and adenovirus. ⁹ Parvovirus b19 is the most commonly detected virus in endomyocardial biopsies of myocarditis and DCM patients, and CVB3 is the virus whose pathology is best understood from animal studies. ¹ DCM can be an end stage of myocarditis regardless of the original cause of myocarditis. ^{2,10} It is difficult to determine the most common cause of myocarditis that leads to DCM development. It is estimated that myocarditis causes 9% to 16 % of non-ischaemic DCM cases. ^{2,11,12} In 25%-40 % of DCM patients, viral genome is found in endomyocardial biopsies. ¹³

During the disease, two pathomechanisms lead to damage of heart tissue: the direct effects of the virus and its replication on the host cells, and damage caused by the host's own immune system, which is dealing with the infection. ¹⁴ The response of the immune system towards the viral threat consists of two phases. The first response uses the innate immune system, which is nonspecific and adaptive. The innate immune system can recognize highly evolutionary conserved patterns of pathogens by using so-called pattern recognition receptors like the class of toll-like receptors (TLR). Interestingly, it has been demonstrated that a TLR polymorphism is a risk factor for severe forms of enterovirus-caused myocarditis with increased cases of DCM. ¹⁵ TLR3- and TLR4-deficient mice, which are not able to establish an adequate response of the immune system towards the viral infection, show lower rates of DCM. ^{16,17} Macrophages and natural killer cells are important cells in the innate immune system. These are the first cells that infiltrate the infected tissue. ^{18,19} Several pattern recognition receptors are known to detect CVB3 antigens and start a signal cascade in macrophages.²⁰ Activated macrophages are an important link to the adaptive immune system, as they function as antigen-presenting cells.¹⁸ The second phase of the immune system response to the viral infection is characterized by lymphocytes of the adaptive part of the immune system. These cells do not recognize environmentally conserved pathogen antigen patterns, but specifically react to distinct viral antigens. TH1-type lymphocytes directly cause damage to viral infected cells, while TH2-type lymphocytes stimulate B-lymphocytes to produce antibodies against viral proteins.^{18,19}

An important marker of disease progression into a stage of chronic inflammation and fibrotic remodelling is the development of IgG autoantibodies binding to cardiac myosin. These antibodies are similar in the mouse myocarditis model, the EAM animal model and also in patients suffering from myocarditis as well as dilated cardiomyopathy. ^{21–23} In 80% of cases of myocarditis-caused DCM, antibodies against myocardial antigens can be detected in patients' blood. ^{24,25,26} It is thought that ongoing inflammation and self-sustained cardiac autoimmunity are required for disease progression into this chronic stage, which leads to DCM. ^{2,11,12} The development of autoimmunity occurs via two pathways: molecular mimicry between viral proteins and cardiac proteins, and the exposure of cardiac proteins to the host's immune system during the inflammation and harming of cardiac cells. ^{27,28} Cardiac myosin is a protein of the sliding filament apparatus of cardiomyocytes, which provides the contractile nature of these cells. Cardiac myosin is a motor protein consisting of two heavy protein chains and four light ones. ²⁹ After the immunization of rats, it takes two weeks for myocardial inflammation to occur. After three weeks, the inflammation reaches its maximum. ^{8,30} Only the Lewis rat strain is susceptible to developing EAM after immunization.³⁰ In EAM, the pathology of the disease is driven by CD4+ T-cells. ³¹ Other than B-Cell deficient mice, T-cell deficient mice are resistant to developing DCM after EAM treatment, which shows the importance of T-cells in EAM pathology. ³² The antigen presentation of injected cardiac myosin depends on an endogenous population of antigen-presenting cells in the heart tissue. These bone marrowderived cells present processed cardiac myosin using major histocompatibility complex 2 (MHC II) to interact with CD4+ T-cells. ³¹ Toll-like receptors such as TLR4 are needed to generate long-lasting cardiac autoimmunity.³³ In human patients, myocarditis can be divided into several histopathological subtypes, such as acute and chronic lymphocytic myocarditis.³⁴ Of these subtypes, giant cell myocarditis has the worst outcome and the highest rates of DCM. ³⁵ The subtype of giant cell myocarditis is characterized by a pathology strongly driven by cardiac autoimmunity. ³⁴ The composition of immune infiltrates in the heart tissue of giant cell myocarditis patients strongly resembles those in the heart tissue of EAM animals. ³⁵ In both the EAM model ³⁶ and human giant cell myocarditis, ¹² an early and strong infiltration of macrophages can be observed.

Clinical Relevance: Myocarditis

Myocarditis is a heterogeneous disease in its presentation, with a broad range of symptoms during disease progression. ³⁷ Patients with myocarditis often present with only minor symptoms, including flu-like symptoms. Patients suffering from a more aggressive form of the

disease present with signs of myocardial ischemia and heart failure, such as palpitations, angina pectoris, dyspnoea, and oedema of the lungs and lower limbs. ³⁸ The gold standard of myocarditis diagnostics is the histopathologic examination of a biopsy taken from the patient's heart. ³⁹

The basic therapy includes the therapy of heart failure (for example, the usage of beta blockers, ACE inhibitors and the achievement of a protective fluid balance) and the therapy of arrhythmic disorders (if these occur during the process of disease). ^{39,40} Specific treatment of the underlying cause by using antiviral drugs in viral myocarditis, or immunosuppressive drugs if an autoimmune cause is found, should only follow a diagnostic biopsy confirming a specific cause and subtype of myocarditis. The overall prognosis of viral myocarditis is good, and a complete restitution is usually observed even without any specific treatment. Still, some subtypes have very poor outcomes, such as fulminant lymphocytic myocarditis, ⁴¹ giant cell myocarditis ⁴² and necrotic granulomatous myocarditis. ⁴³ There also is a risk of developing a chronic stage of disease with ongoing inflammation following acute viral myocarditis. ³

Risk factors

Several risk factors have been found to increase the chance of suffering from a more fatal form of this disease. In particular, these include the underlying trigger of myocarditis, the patient's age and condition, and the patient's sex. ¹ A Finnish study that evaluated 3,274 Finnish hospital treatments found a higher prevalence of myocarditis in male compared to female patients.¹ In addition, it showed a higher rate of severity in males, including the development of DCM, fibrosis and heart failure. There is a sex bias in many of the common heart diseases regarding the response of the heart tissue towards detrimental causes (such as ongoing inflammation, chronic ischemia and toxic agents). Often, there is an increased incidence and severity in men and a better outcome in women. ^{44,45,46} Female heart tissue seems to react to harmful triggers in a more physiologic way.⁴⁵ Sex differences in cardiac remodelling and cardiac response to stress are probably important causes of the male sex being a risk factor of developing heart failure.⁴⁷ A different response of heart tissue towards ischemia, as in coronary heart disease, or towards inflammation, as in myocarditis, was found. Cardiac remodelling differs between male and female patients. Differences in cardiac remodelling are characterized by the fibrosis rate of heart tissue and the macroscopic morphology and structure of the remodelled organ. Differences in cardiac remodelling mechanisms between male and female patients are thought to be of high importance for the risk of developing DCM and heart failure. ^{47,48} Chronic myocarditis can cause DCM, which often leads to heart failure and the necessity for heart transplantation. ⁴⁹ The prevalence of DCM and myocarditis is higher in men than in women. ^{50,51} Recently, it has been shown that in patients suffering from myocarditis and acute cardiomyopathy, the cardiac recovery and outcome are better in women than in men, and they lead to less heart failure, a longer transplant-free time and higher survival rates in women. ⁴⁶

5.2 Sex differences in autoimmune diseases

Autoimmune diseases are a significant burden for the public health system. Over 8% of the population is affected by an autoimmune disease during their lifetime. Interestingly, more than 75% of these are women. ^{52,53,54} There is a widespread sex bias in autoimmune diseases. ⁵⁵ The pathologies of different autoimmune diseases resemble each other: there is a phase with an acute inflammatory response to a trigger, followed by a chronic phase of ongoing immunological response in the absence of the initial trigger, which then leads to fibrosis in the affected organ. However, there are differences in the prototypes of female and male immunopathology regarding the cytokines involved and the cell types, as well as differences in the common age of onset of autoimmune diseases in male and female patients. ⁵⁶ The onset of autoimmune diseases in women is usually after 50, while autoimmune diseases in men mostly start before age 50. ^{57–59,56} Important examples of autoimmune diseases with a female-like pathology are multiple sclerosis, myasthenia gravis, rheumatoid arthritis, Graves' disease, systemic lupus erythematous and Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Meanwhile, granulomatosis with polyangiitis, diabetes type one, ankylosing spondylitis, autoimmune gastritis and autoimmune myocarditis are more common in men. ^{54,58,59}

Sex differences in immune responses

Women's response to infection, trauma and vaccination is driven by a TH2 immune response, leading to increased production of antibodies. Conversely, men react to triggers like infection with a stronger TH1-driven, pro-inflammatory response, leading to stronger acute inflammation. ^{60,61} Consistently, autoimmune diseases with higher prevalence in male patients show a TH1-driven pathology with a strong, acute inflammation and the appearance of autoantibodies in later stages of the disease. Autoimmune diseases, which are more prevalent in women, are mostly antibody-mediated and show a TH2-driven pathology. ⁵⁶

Sex-based differences of the human immune system are thought to be regulated by sex hormones such as estrogen, testosterone and progesterone. Thus, these hormones are also likely to play an important role in the different pathologies of male and female autoimmune diseases. ^{55,62,63} The male sex hormone testosterone is produced in Leydig cells of the testis, although in

much lower doses, it is also found in the female organism. Female and male sex hormones share a connected synthesis. Progesterone and estrogen are known as female sex hormones. Nevertheless, estrogen in particular is also present in the male organism, as it is produced in testicular tissue and fatty tissue. Adipose male patients have increased estrogen levels due to the enzymatic processing of testosterone to estrogen by the enzyme aromatase (CYP19A1) in fatty tissue cells. ⁶⁴ There are receptors for androgen and estrogen on immune cells. ⁶⁵ There are cytokine receptors on sex hormone-producing tissues. Thus, the immune system is also likely to regulate sex hormone production and secretion. ⁶³ Parenchymatous cells of inflamed tissue can also be the target of sex hormones. For example, human cardiac cells such as cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells and fibroblasts are targets of sex hormones. Although these are not cells of the immune system, sex hormone effects on these cells can dramatically change the tissue response to inflammation between males and females. ^{66,67} Important pathways of estrogen receptor signalling are intracellular p38 and ERK signalling. ⁶⁸

There is evidence that, in the female system, estrogen stimulates a TH2 response while inhibiting the TH1 arm, leading to the stimulation of antibody production. Furthermore, estrogen has been shown to elevate the levels of IL-4, IL-10 and TGF-B, which are also cytokines from the spectrum of alternatively activated macrophages. In addition, the estrogendependent stimulation of Foxp3 and CD80 gene expression gives rise to a population of regulatory T-cells. ^{33,63,69–73} On a cellular level, the effects of estrogen on immune cells are not as consistent and highly depend on the estrogen concentrations used in cell culture experiments. Estrogen is known to induce the proliferation of TH2 T-cells at high levels, but it decreases Tcell proliferation at low levels. Furthermore, estrogen is known to decrease TNF-a expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC). TNF-a is an important marker for M1 polarization. The decreased expression of TNF-α is found in male and female PBMCs only if estrogen is administered together with LPS to the cells. ^{63,73} Similar results have been obtained from treating murine cells with LPS and estrogen. ⁷² There is evidence that estrogen can downregulate NFkB and TH1 signalling in various male, female, murine and human immune cell types via estrogen receptor-alpha signalling. ^{74–78} Regarding the fibrotic character of autoimmune diseases, the profibrotic effects of estrogen by increasing IL-4 and TGF-β levels should be kept in mind. ^{63,79} The androgen effects on the human system have been investigated far less than the estrogen effects on the immune system. There is evidence that androgens support a TH1-type immune response in both humans and rodents. 60,69,70,80-83

5.3 Role of macrophages in chronic inflammation

Origin of macrophages

Macrophages are the major cells in the resting heart, ¹¹⁵ and they are important regulators of inflammation-triggered fibrosis, as in myocarditis. ^{116,117} Macrophages are phagocytosing cells that are present in most tissues. They infiltrate the tissue from the peripheral blood stream. The origin of macrophages is the bone marrow and its haemopoietic stem cells. For the maturing process from haemopoietic stem cells to mature monocytes, the colony-stimulating factors M-CSF and GM-CSF are highly important. ¹¹⁸ The maturing process of macrophages is not exclusively limited to bone marrow, however. Monocytes in the peripheral blood change their receptor status depending on how long they have been in the blood before being recruited to the tissue. ^{73,119} Murine macrophages are characterized by the expression of the surface markers CD 68, ¹²⁰ F4/80 ¹²¹ and CD11b. ¹²²

Role of macrophages in inflammation

Many different macrophage phenotypes are known. They have functions in the inflammatory response towards infections, immune regulation, phagocytosis of sterile debris and tissue repair. Processed debris is loaded with highly conserved patterns of distinct pathogens. Macrophages can recognize these so-called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPS)¹²³ by using pattern recognition receptors (PRR) such as the group of TLR or IL-1 receptors. The activation of these receptors leads to an extreme change in macrophage cell polarization. The activated form of macrophages produces pro-inflammatory mediators and cytokines. ^{124,125,126} This proinflammatory state of macrophages is called M1 type, or classically activated macrophages, since other ways of macrophage activation and their other roles in inflammation have been revealed. The M2 type of macrophages, or alternative activated macrophages, are not proinflammatory but play key roles in the resolution of active inflammatory states using immune regulation and tissue repair. ^{127,128} The model of only two types of macrophage subspecies (M1 and M2) was revised after the discovery of additional subtypes of macrophages, which are not pro-inflammatory but also cannot be assigned to one general type of M2 macrophages.¹²⁹ Mosser and Edwards thus proposed macrophage polarization as a spectrum with three basic functions: pro-inflammatory (classically activated), wound-healing (tissue repair) and immuneregulatory. In this context, "spectrum" means that macrophages never obtain a definite state of one of these three; rather, they are always on this spectrum with more or fewer characteristics of each subtype. 73

The spectrum of macrophage polarization

Macrophages fulfill many tasks during inflammation. Tissue-resident macrophages recognize pathogens such as viruses and bacteria using TLR. This triggers a pathway to polarize macrophages into a pro-inflammatory phenotype. By using cytokines and chemotaxines, these macrophages boost the local inflammation and recruit more cells to the affected tissue. As antigen-presenting cells, macrophages also play an important role as a link between the non-adaptive and adaptive immune system. After the pathogen is cleared, another type of macrophage is needed to regulate and shut down the inflammatory response as well as to induce tissue repair. The dysregulation of these polarization processes can lead to ongoing inflammation and fibrotic remodelling, suggesting that macrophages play key roles in several diseases. ^{130,73}

Classically activated macrophages

The classically activated macrophage is the pro-inflammatory first line of defense in inflammation. TNF- α is produced by macrophages after recognizing PAMPs such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) via TLR4. Usually, macrophages need another pro-inflammatory stimulus to maintain the M1 phenotype. This is usually IFN- γ , which is mostly produced by TH1 T-cells and natural killer cells. ^{131,132} TH1 T-cells secrete IFN- γ while interacting with macrophages. ¹³³ LPS is one of the PAMPs and can activate macrophages into an M1 state independently from IFN- γ secreted by lymphocytes or NK cells. ¹³⁴ Both activated p38 and ERK are known downstream-signalling targets of LPS and are important in M1 macrophage polarization signalling. ^{135–137} TLR4 can also recognize patterns of CVB3. ¹⁶ The downstream transcription factor of LPS/TLR4 signalling is Nuclear Factor Kappa B (NF κ B). ¹³¹ Further downstream of TLR4 signalling, myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88) leads to NF κ B activation and TNF- α secretion. Another important downstream transcription factor of LPS. ¹³⁵ Other established markers of M1 macrophages include nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), which is a highly antimicrobial enzyme, ¹³⁸ and the cytokine IL-1 β . ⁷³

After the responsible trigger (e.g., bacteria) is cleared, a phase of immune regulation and tissue repair is necessary after the initial pro-inflammatory phase. ¹³⁹ Macrophages have an inbuilt mechanism to prevent overwhelming inflammation by ongoing classic activation - this is called LPS tolerance. Experiments have shown the inability of LPS to activate M1 pathways after cells have been exposed to LPS for several hours. ¹⁴⁰ However, in this state, these macrophages still can express many genes of the M2 spectrum. Thus, they have some kind of inbuilt switch from an M1- to an M2-like phenotype. ¹⁴¹

Alternatively activated macrophages

Experiments with the effect of IL-4 showed a subspecies of macrophage with decreased proinflammatory abilities. The macrophage mannose receptor (MMR) is upregulated in these cells in mice. Later, IL-13 was demonstrated to be another cytokine that induces the M2 status of macrophages.¹⁴² Mosser and Edwards have suggested thinking of a spectrum between being primarily pro-inflammatory, tissue repairing or immune regulatory as more subspecies with characteristics of more than one subspecies are described. ^{73,143} Wound-healing macrophages are needed after the clearance of pathogens to support tissue restitution by stimulating fibrotic remodelling. IL-4 and IL-13 are the signature cytokines to induce such a macrophage phenotype. ⁷³ In later stages of inflammation, TH2 T-cells secrete IL-4 and IL-13. ^{144,145} In IL-4 treated macrophages, the activity of arginase 1, which contributes to the production of the extracellular matrix, is upregulated. ¹⁴⁶ Furthermore, this macrophage phenotype shows decreased characteristics of pro-inflammatory macrophages, as the expression of the classic pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemotaxins and nitrogen radicals is decreased. ¹²⁹ Other tissue repair macrophage markers in murine macrophages are chinitase-like proteins such as YM1.¹⁴⁷ These seem to have a function in reorganizing the extracellular matrix, as they have the ability to bind to extracellular matrix proteins. ^{148,149} RELMa expression is also induced by IL-4 signalling in murine macrophages. RELMa promotes the deposition of the extracellular matrix. ¹⁴⁷ The signalling pathways for alternatively activated macrophages have been investigated less than the classic M1 pathways. The heterogeneity of the non-inflammatory spectrum of macrophages is complex and not as homogenous as the classic M1 type. ⁷³ IL-4 and IL-13 signalling activates the Janus Kinase (JAK) JAK-STAT6 pathway. STAT6 is a transcription factor that regulates the genes of many M2 macrophage signature proteins, such as arginase 1, macrophage mannose receptor 1 (CD206), Fizz 1 and YM1.¹⁵⁰ Another subtype of the spectrum of M2 polarization Mosser and Edwards have suggested are regulatory macrophages, ⁷³ a subspecies that is anti-inflammatory and not tissue repairing.¹²⁹ IL-10 is one of the signature cytokines of regulatory macrophages. ^{151,128}

Macrophage-related fibrosis regulation

Macrophages play a key role in the regulation of fibrosis. Microphages also usually reside in close range to accumulations of connective tissue-producing cells. They activate fibroblasts by using cytokines such as TGF- β , platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and TNF- α . ^{152,116} They also directly intervene in the remodelling of the extracellular matrix by using matrix

metalloproteinase (MMP) to degrade it and tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinase (TIMP) to attenuate the degradation of the extracellular matrix.¹⁵³

Role of macrophages in cardiac fibrosis

Cardiac macrophages have a spindle-like shape and are usually close to endothelial cells. ^{154,155} They interact with other cardiac cells and thereby regulate different phases of cardiac diseases: acute inflammation, immune regulation and resolution, the processing of cellular debris and cardiac remodelling. Macrophages regulate the response of cardiac tissue to cardiac stress.¹⁵⁶ During phases of cardiac stress (e.g., myocardial infarction or myocarditis), the local macrophage population is expanded through recruitment from the blood stream as well as through local proliferation. ^{157–159} A major trigger for macrophage tissue infiltration is monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1). ¹⁶⁰ The inhibition of MCP-1 signalling by antibody usage reduced vascular inflammation and myocardial fibrosis in a murine animal model of hypertension-induced cardiac disease. ¹⁶¹ The ingestion of apoptotic cells by macrophages promotes a tissue-repairing and immune-regulating M2 type of macrophages. This was shown for apoptotic cardiomyocytes following acute cardiac inflammation as an important mechanism of stimulating cardiac repair following infarction. ¹⁶² A key cellular event in the development of cardiac fibrosis is the transformation of cardiac fibroblasts into activated fibroblasts. ^{163–165} Activated fibroblasts generate an extracellular matrix and scar tissue following cardiac damage. ^{166,167} An important cellular marker for the activation of fibroblasts is the expression of MCP-1.¹⁶⁸ After the activation of fibroblasts, an increased production of extracellular matrix proteins can be observed. ¹⁶⁹ TGF- β , IL-1 β and TNF- α have been shown to be able to activate fibroblasts. ¹¹⁶ All three are also effector cytokines of macrophages, indicating that macrophages play an important role in regulating fibroblast activation in damaged cardiac tissue.¹⁷⁰ The depletion of monocytes and macrophages in the myocardium following cardiac stress decreases fibroblast activation and collagen production. ¹⁵⁵

5.4 Working hypothesis and aims of this study

The preliminary data outlined above indicate significant differences between male and female immune responses. Furthermore, macrophages are the major immune cell class in the resting heart, and there is a broad range of macrophage subtypes. Therefore, our study aimed to test the following theses:

- 1. There are sex differences in the composition of myocardial infiltrates in heart sections of EAM animals regarding macrophages and their differently polarized subtypes.
- 2. There are sex differences in macrophage polarization, fibroblast activation and macrophage-fibroblast cell-cell interaction, which could explain sex differences in EAM animals.
- 3. Estrogen signalling contributes to sex differences in macrophage activation and the composition of myocardial infiltrates.

6 Materials

6.1 Devices

Binocular microscope, Wild M8	Leica Biosystems GmbH (Nussloch)
Camera, Canon PowerShot G5	Canon GmbH (Krefeld)
Centrifuge 5417R	Eppendorf (Hamburg)
Centrifuge 5430R	Eppendorf (Hamburg)
Fast Prep	Mpbio (Santa Ana, USA)
Fluorescence microscope, LSM 510	Zeiss (Göttingen)
Freezer, -20°C	Liebherr (Ochsenhausen)
Freezer, -80°C	Sanyo (Munich)
Fridge, 4°C	Bosch (Gerlingen-Schillerhöhe)
Gemini EM Microplate Reader	Molecular devices (Sunnyvale, USA)
Hargreaves electronic timer (Model 336)	IITC Life Sciences (Woodland Hills, USA)
Homogenizer	Roth GmbH (Karlsruhe)
Incubator, BBD 6220	Heraeus (Hanau)
Incubator model 3000	Jane Schütz GmbH (Hammelburg)
Magnet mixer, KMO 2 basic	IKA Werke GmbH (Staufen)
Microscope, Axiophot	Zeiss (Göttingen)
Microwave, NN-E205W	Panasonic (Munich)
Multiwave photometer	Fisher Scientific (Langenselbold)
NanoDrop ND-100 spectophotometer	Peqlab Biotechnologie (Erlangen)
Neubauer cell chamber	Celeromics (Valencia, Spain)
pH meter, pH 300	Hanna Instruments (Kehl am Rhein)
Pipetting devices (1-1000 µl)	Eppendorf (Hamburg)
Power supply unit, Power Pac 3000	Bio-Rad Laboratories GmbH (Munich)
Sterile hood	Hera Safe Heraeus Instruments (Hanau)
StepOne Real-Time PCR System	Life Technologies (Darmstadt)
Suction machine	HLC Biotech (Bovenden)
Teflon pestle	Roth GmbH (Karlsruhe)
Thermomixer comfort	Eppendorf (Hamburg)

Tweezers (sharp and curved)	Dumont & Fils (Montignez, Switzerland)
Tweezers	Carl Roth GmbH (Karlsruhe)
Ultracentrifuge, Coulter Optima L-100 XP	Beckmann (Fullerton, USA)
(SW40 rotor)	
VictorX Multilabe Plate Reader	PerkinElmer (Waltham, USA)
Vortex Genie 2	Scientific Industries (Bohemia, USA)
Water bath, R19:S54h	Medax GmbH (Neumünster)

6.2 Consumables

Cell culture flasks	Nunc (Wiesbaden)
Cover slips (24 mm)	MatTEK Corporation (Ashland, USA)
Cryogenic vials	VWR International GmbH (Darmstadt)
Eppendorf tubes (0.5, 1.5, 2.0 ml)	Eppendorf (Hamburg)
Falcon tubes (15 and 50 ml)	BD (Franklin Lakes, USA)
MicroAmp Fast Optical 48-well plate	Life Technologies (Darmstadt)
MicroAmp Reaction Tube/Cap, 0.2 ml	Life Technologies (Darmstadt)
Needle (25 gauge)	B. Braun (Melsungen)
Nitrocellulose membrane	Bio-Rad (Munich)
Pasteur pipettes	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Petri dishes, Nuclon surface	Nunc (Wiesbaden)
Pipet tips (0.5-10, 10-100, 100-1000 µl)	Eppendorf (Hamburg)
Serological pipets (2, 5, 10 and 25 ml)	BD (Franklin Lakes, USA)
Pipet tips	Sarstedt AG (Nümbrecht)
Syringe (1 ml)	B. Braun (Melsungen)
Ultracentrifuge tube	Beckmann (Fullerton, USA)
Six-well plate	Sarstedt (Nümbrecht)
96-well plate	Sarstedt (Nümbrecht)
Whatman paper	Whatman International Ltd. (Maidstone, UK)

6.3 Chemicals, media, buffers and solutions

All solutions were prepared using ultrapure water (resistivity: 18.2 M Ω) and analytical-grade reagents. If required, the pH was adjusted using sodium hydroxide or hydrochloride acid.

5x first-strand buffer	Life Technologies (Darmstadt)
6x DNA loading dye	Fisher Scientific (Schwerte)
17-β estradiol	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
β-mercaptoethanol	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Antimycin	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Bisacrylamide	Roth (Karlsruhe)
Bromophenol blue	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
BSA	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Dapi Fluoromount G	Southern Biotechnology (Birmingham, USA)
DEPC	Fisher Scientific (Schwerte)
Dextrin	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Dioxyglucose	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Donor horse serum	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
D-glucose	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
D-mannitol	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
DMEM with phenol red	Gibco (Karlsruhe)
DMEM without phenol red	Gibco (Karlsruhe)
Ethanol	Roth (Karlsruhe)
FCCP	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Fetal bovine serum	Biochrom (Berlin)
Formaldehyde (35%)	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Glycerol	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Glycine	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Histofix, 4%	Roth (Karlsruhe)
Hydrochloric acid (HCl, 37%)	Roth (Karlsruhe)
IL-4	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
IL-13	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Isoflurane	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Isopropanol	Fluka Chemie GmbH (Buchs, Switzerland)
LB broth	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
L-Glutamine	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
LPS	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Nuclease-free water	Life Technologies (Darmstadt)

Penicillin/Streptomycin solution	Biochrom (Berlin)
Protein inhibitor cocktail (PIC)	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Ponceau red	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Potassium chloride	Merck Millipore (Darmstadt)
Potassium cyanide	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Potassium dihydrogen phosphate	Merck Millipore (Darmstadt)
RNA-Bee	Amsbio (Abbingdon, UK)
Rotenon	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
RPMI-1640	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	Roth (Karlsruhe)
Sodium hydroxide (NaOH)	Merck Millipore (Darmstadt)
TEMED	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
TNF-α	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
TGF-β	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Tri-sodium citrate dihydrate	Merck Millipore (Darmstadt)
Triton X-100	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Trypan blue	Fisher Scientific (Schwerte)
Trypsin/EDTA without phenol red	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Trypsin phenol red-free	Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim)
Tween 20	Merck Millipore (Darmstadt)

6.4 Buffers and solutions for western blotting

Laemmli buffer

Tris-HCl, pH 6.8	87.5 mM
SDS	0.1% (w/v)
Glycerol	5% (w/v)
Bromophenol blue	0.1% (w/v)
β-mercaptoethanol	0.1% (w/v)

Stacking gel (5%)

Tris-HCl, pH 6.8	87.5 mM
SDS	0.1% (w/v)
Acrylamide	5% (w/v)
Bisacrylamide	0.1% (w/v)
Ammonium persulfate	0.1% (w/v)
TEMED	0.1% (w/v)

Separation gel (12%)

Tris-HCl	375 mM
SDS	0.1% (w/v)
Acrylamide	12 % (w/v)
Bisacrylamide	0.24% (w/v)
Ammonium-persulfate	0.1% (w/v)
TEMED	0.1% (w/v)

4x Western blot-loading buffer

Tris-HCl, pH 6.8	200 mM
SDS	8% (w/v)
Glycerol	40% (v/v)
Bromophenol blue	0.01% (w/v)
Dithiothreitol	40% (v/v)

SDS running buffer

Tris-HCl	25 mM
SDS	0.1% (w/v)
Glycine	192 mM

Transfer buffer

Tris-HCl, pH 8.5	25 mM
Glycine	192 mM
Methanol	10% (v/v)

Washing buffer/TBS-T

Tris-HCl, pH 8.5	20 mM
Sodium chloride	140 mM
Tween 20	0.1% (v/v)

Blocking buffer

BSA	5% (w/v)
TBST-buffer	95% (v/v)

Stripping buffer, pH=2.0

Glycine	250 mM
10% SDS	10% (w/v)

6.5 Buffers and solutions for immunofluorescence

PBS-T

Disodium phosphate	4.3 mM
Potassium dihydrogen phosphate	1.4 mM
Sodium chloride	137 mM
Potassium chloride	2.7 mM
Tween 20	0.1%

1% BSA/PBS-T

BSA	1%
Disodium phosphate	4.3 mM
Potassium dihydrogen phosphate	1.4 mM
Sodium chloride	137 mM
Potassium chloride	2.7 mM
Tween 20	0.1%

3% BSA/PBS-T

BSA	3%
Disodium phosphate	4.3 mM
Potassium dihydrogen phosphate	1.4 mM
Sodium chloride	137 mM
Potassium chloride	2.7 mM
Tween 20	0.1%

6.6 Cell culture media

Medium for L929 cell line

Cultivation medium

RPMI-1640 (with phenol red, cat. 11875093)	88%
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 mM
Non-essential amino acids (NEAA)	1 mM
Fetal bovine serum (FBS, cat. S0115)	10%

Media for bone marrow-derived mouse macrophages

Washing medium (for isolation protocol)

DMEM (with phenol red, cat. 41965)	88%
Fetal bovine serum (FBS, cat. S0115)	10%
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 mM
Sodium pyruvate	1 mM
Fetal bovine serum (FBS, cat. S0115)	10%

Differentiation medium

DMEM (with phenol red,	68%
cat. 41965)	
β-mercaptoethanol	50 µM
Non-essential amino acids	1%
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 mM
Sodium pyruvate	1 mM
Donor horse serum (cat.	20%
H1138)	
Fetal bovine serum (FBS,	10%
cat. S0115)	

Starving medium

DMEM (phenol red free, cat. 31053)	94.5%
β-mercaptoethanol	50 µM
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 mM
Sodium pyruvate	1 mM
Fetal bovine serum (FBS, cat. S0115), charcoal stripped	2.5%

Charcoal-stripped starvation medium

The remaining hormones were removed from the fetal bovine serum by charcoal stripping before adding it to the starvation medium.

Medium for fibroblasts

Cultivation medium

DMEM (with phenol red, cat. 41965)	88%
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 mM
Sodium pyruvate	1 mM
Glutamine	1 mM
Fetal bovine serum (FBS, cat. S0115),	10%

Starving medium

DMEM (phenol red free, cat. 31053)	94.5%
Penicillin/Streptomycin	1 mM
Sodium pyruvate	1 mM
Glutamine	1 mM
Fetal bovine serum (FBS,	
cat. S0115), charcoal	2.5%
stripped	

6.7 Oligonucleotides

Oligo_(dT)-primers for the qRT-PCR were designed using the Roche Universal Probe Library and purchased from Eurofins Scientific (Luxembourg City, Luxembourg).

Table 1: Used Oligo_(dT)-Primers, sequences, species, product length	

Name	Sequences	Species	Product length
			(bp)
НЪВТ	FW: GCT TTC CCT GGT TAA GCA GTA CA	Mouse	19
	RV: ACA CTT CGA GAG GTC CTT TTC AC	Wiouse	ر ۲

C-fos	FW: CGG TTC CTT CTA TGC AGC AG RV: GTA CAG GTG ACC ACG GGA GT	Mouse	80
NFκB	FW: TGT TCA GCT TCG GAG GAA AT RV: TCC TTT GCA CTT CCT CTT TGT C	Mouse	78
IL-1β	FW: AGT TGA CGG ACC CCA AAA G RV: GAA GCT GGA TGC TCT CAT CA	Mouse	42
TNF-α	FW: CCA AAT GGC CTC CCT CTC AT RV: AGC TGC TCC TCC ACT TGG	Mouse	178
TLR 4	FW: GAA GGT TGA GAA GTC CCT GCT RV: CCC ATT CCA GGT AGG TGT TTC	Mouse	167
MCP 1	FW: CCC AAT GAG TAG GCT GGA GA RV: TCT GGA CCC ATT CCT TCT TG	Mouse	125
IL-10	FW: GGT TGC CAA GCC TTA TCG GA RV: ACC TGC TCC ACT GCC TTG CT	Mouse	191
TIM 3	FW: TTT TCA GGT CTT ACC CTC AAC TG RV: CAT AAG CAT TTT CCA ATG ACC TT	Mouse	76
STAT 6	FW: ACA AAT ACT TCA AGG GGA GAA AAA RV: CCT TCC GAG GGC TGT AGT AA	Mouse	65
RELM a	FW: GCA CTA GTG TCA AGA CTA TGA ACA GAT RV: AGC ACA CCC AGT AGC AGT CA	Mouse	68
YM 1	FW: GGT CTG AAA GAC AAG AAC ACT GAG RV: GAG ACC ATG GCA CTG AAC G	Mouse	88
YM 1 COL1A1	FW: GGT CTG AAA GAC AAG AAC ACT GAG RV: GAG ACC ATG GCA CTG AAC G FW: CAT GTT CAG CTT TGT GGA CCT RV: GCA GCT GAC TTC AGG GAT GT	Mouse	88
YM 1 COL1A1 TGF-β	FW: GGT CTG AAA GAC AAG AAC ACT GAG RV: GAG ACC ATG GCA CTG AAC G FW: CAT GTT CAG CTT TGT GGA CCT RV: GCA GCT GAC TTC AGG GAT GT FW: CCA AGG AGA CGG AAT ACA GG RV: GTT CAT GTC ATG GAT GGT GC	Mouse Mouse Mouse	88 44 76
YM 1 COL1A1 TGF-β Arginase	FW: GGT CTG AAA GAC AAG AAC ACT GAG RV: GAG ACC ATG GCA CTG AAC G FW: CAT GTT CAG CTT TGT GGA CCT RV: GCA GCT GAC TTC AGG GAT GT FW: CCA AGG AGA CGG AAT ACA GG RV: GTT CAT GTC ATG GAT GGT GC FW: TAT GGT CCA CAG CTG CCA TTC RV: CCA AAG TCT TTA GGT GGC ATC	Mouse Mouse Mouse	88 44 76 87
YM 1 COL1A1 TGF-β Arginase HPRT	FW: GGT CTG AAA GAC AAG AAC ACT GAG RV: GAG ACC ATG GCA CTG AAC G FW: CAT GTT CAG CTT TGT GGA CCT RV: GCA GCT GAC TTC AGG GAT GT FW: CCA AGG AGA CGG AAT ACA GG RV: GTT CAT GTC ATG GAT GGT GC FW: TAT GGT CCA CAG CTG CCA TTC RV: CCA AAG TCT TTA GGT GGC ATC FW: GTC CCA GCG TCG TGA TTA GT RV: CTC GAG CAA GTC TTT CAG TCC	Mouse Mouse Mouse Rat	88 44 76 87 140

	RV: AGT CAA GTC CAG GGA GGT CA		
СТАТ 1	FW: TGT TAT CCG ATC GCA CCT T	Dot	66
SIALI	RV: GTC GTT CCA CCA CAA AGG A	Kai	00
:NOS	FW: ACC ATG GAG CAT CCC AAG T	Pot	60
INOS	RV: CAG CGC ATA CCA CTT CAG C	Kai	00
	FW: TGT GAT GAA AGA CGG CAC AC		
IL-1β	RV: CTT CTT CTT TGG GGT ATT GTT	Rat	70
	TGG		
MCP_1	FW: AGC CAT CCA CGT GTC GTC TC	Rat	78
MCI-I	RV: GAT CAT CTT GCC AGT GAA TGA G	Kat	70
COI 1A1	FW: GGT CCT AAT GGC CCA CCT	Rat	41
COLIAI	RV: ACC AGG GAA GCC AGT CAT AC	Kat	41
	FW: CTC AAG AGC GGA GAA TAC	Rat	150
COLSAI	RV: ATC TGT CCA CCA GTG CTT	ixal	150

6.8 Antibodies

The following antibodies were used for western blotting. The sources and dilutions used are stated. All antibodies were diluted in 5% BSA-TBST solution.

Table 2: Antibodies used for western blotting, band size, catalog number; species: appropriate for mouse and rat

First antibody	First antibod y, dilution	Second antibody (DaM), dilution	Detecte d band (kDA)	Company, catalog number of first antibody	Company, catalog number of second antibody
α-Tubulin	1:10,000	1:20,000	55	Sigma, T9026	Dianova, 115-165- 003
ERK	1:200	1:5,000	44	Santa Cruz, sc93	Dianova, 115-165- 003

pERK	1:100	1:5,000	42	Santa Cruz,	Dianova, 115-165-
				sc16982	003
p38	1:200	1:5,000	38	Santa Cruz, sc7149	Dianova, 115-165- 003
pp38	1:200	1:5,000	38	Santa Cruz, sc17852	Dianova, 115-165- 003
ΝΓκΒ	1:100	1:5,000	50	Santa Cruz, sc7178	Dianova, 115-165- 003

The following antibodies were used for immunostaining. The sources and dilutions used are stated. All antibodies were diluted in 5% BSA-TBST solution.

Table 3: Antibodies used for immunostaining, catalog number; species: all appropriate for mouse

First antibody	First antibody, dilution	Second antibody (FITC/CY3), dilution	Company, catalog number of first antibody	Company, catalog number of second antibody
F4/80	1:100	1:100	Abcam, ab240946	Dianova, 111-095- 045
CD11b	1:100	1:100	Abcam, ab133357	Dianova, 111-095- 045

6.9 Kits

BCA TM Protein Assay Reagent Kit	Fisher Scientific (Schwerte)
SuperScript [®] VILO [™] cDNA Synthesis Kit	Life Technologies (Darmstadt)
SYBR Green PCR Master Mix	Life Technologies (Darmstadt)
Pierce TM ECL Western Blotting Substrate	Fisher Scientific (Schwerte)

6.10 Cell lines

The male mouse fibroblast cell line (L929) was a gift from Dr. Dorette Freyer from the Zentrum für Schlaganfallsforschung (Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin).

6.11 Animals and animal housing

Wild type mice for cell culture experiments

Eight- to 12-week-old male and female C57/BL6J mice were purchased from the Forschungseinrichtung für Experimentelle Medizin (FEM), Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin (Tötungsanzeige: T0333/08). All experimental procedures were performed according to the established guidelines for the care and handling of laboratory animals, and were approved by the Animal Care Committee of the Senate of Berlin. The mice were housed in groups of six to eight animals in a cage with ground corncob bedding. The room temperature was maintained at 22 ± 0.5 °C, with a relative humidity between 40% and 60%. A 12h/12h light and dark cycle was applied. Water and food were provided *ad libitum*.

6.12 Software

Endnote 7	Thomson Research Software (New York,
	USA)
Mendeley	Mendeley Ltd., Elsevier
Image Lab	Bio-Rad
Microsoft Office 2010	Software (Germany)
Prism 5 GraphPad	Software (San Diego, USA)

7 Methods

7.1 Cytological techniques

7.1.1 Cell culture and treatments

The cell culture work was performed in the tissue culture rooms of the Institute for Gender in Medicine at the Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin. The cells were kept in incubators at 37° C in a humidified atmosphere (5% (v/v) of water and a constant CO₂ concentration of 5% (v/v) or 10% (v/v) in the case of bone marrow-derived macrophages.

7.1.2 Counting of cells

25 μ l of cell suspension was mixed with the same amount of trypan blue and placed under a cover slip on a Neubauer cell chamber. The cells in 16 small quadrants were counted. The total volume of these quadrants was 0.1 μ l. The number counted in this volume was multiplied by the *chamber factor of 10⁴, resulting in the number of cells present in 1 ml of cell suspension.

7.2 Bone marrow-derived macrophages – cell culture experiments

Bone marrow isolation and BMM differentiation

Bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMMs) were isolated from eight- to 12-week-old male and female C57/BL6J mice. Briefly, the mice were sacrificed following anesthetization with isoflurane. The abdomen and hind legs were sterilized using 70% ethanol solution. An incision was made in the midline of the abdomen. Subsequently, all muscle tissues were removed from the bones with scissors. The bones were cut at both ends without opening the bone canals and were stored in ice-cold DPBS for further processing. After sterilizing the bones with 70% ethanol, the bone canals were sliced on both ends in a sterile environment. The bone marrow cells were collected by flushing the femurs and tibias with the washing media using a 1 ml syringe with a 20-gauge needle. The cells were pipetted up and down to obtain single-cell suspension and passed through a 70 μ m cell strainer. The cells were then centrifuged (1,200 rpm, 5 min, 22°C), resuspended in the differentiation medium and counted in a Neubauer cell chamber. Subsequently, 1x10⁷ cells were diluted in 40 ml differentiation medium and 10 ml L929-preconditioned medium. The cell suspension was transferred to Teflon-coated polypropylene (polythene) bags. Bone marrow cells were cultivated for 10 days in a humidified
incubator with 10% CO₂ at 37°C to promote differentiation into BMMs. At day 10, the BMMs were harvested and used for further experiments.

Harvesting and seeding into six-well plates

After 10 days, the cells were removed from the bags and centrifuged at 1,200 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded, and the cells were resuspended into the macrophage-starving medium. One million cells were put into one well with 3 milliliters of macrophage-starving medium. The cells were seeded with 1 million cells in each well of a six-well plate. The macrophages were stimulated in passage 1.

Cultivation of L929 cell line for pre-conditioned medium

During the conditioning process, L929 cells release cytokines such as M-CSF and GM-CSF (colony-stimulating factors), which signal macrophage precursors to duplicate and differentiate. ¹⁷¹ The cells were cultured in a supplemented RPMI-1640 medium in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C. The cells were grown for two weeks, until 30% of the cells were necrotic. The supernatant was collected and sterile filtered through a 0.45 μ m filter. 50 ml aliquots were frozen and stored at -20°C.

7.3 Isolated murine cardiac fibroblasts – cell culture experiments

Fibroblast isolation

Murine cardiac fibroblasts were isolated from eight- to 12-week-old male and female C57/BL6J mice. Briefly, the mice were sacrificed following anesthetization with isoflurane, and the hearts were then removed. The hearts were stored in DMEM medium on ice for up to 1 hour. All the following steps were done on ice until resuspending and seeding the cells. First, the mice hearts were washed with PBS to remove erythrocytes until there was no longer a reddish color in the PBS used. The hearts were then cut into small pieces on a cell culture disc using a scalpel. The pieces were collected, put into a falcon and washed again with PBS. The PBS was removed, and 2.5 milliliters of digestion solution was added to each falcon. Falcons were shaken by hand for 30 seconds and then put into the water bath for two minutes at 37 °C. This procedure was repeated five times. The supernatant was removed carefully and put into falcons with ice-cold fibroblast growth medium. The cells were centrifuged at 1,200 rpm at four degrees for five minutes. The cell pellet was resuspended in PBS at 4 °C and then centrifuged at 1,200 rpm at

4 °C for five minutes. The cells of each heart were resuspended in fibroblast growth medium and cultivated in a T75 cell culture flask.

Harvesting and seeding into six-well plates

The medium was changed every three days until a 90%-100% cell confluence was reached. Next, the fibroblasts were transferred to a six-well plate with 50,000 cells in each well. The cells were washed with PBS and then trypsinized. Fibroblast growth medium was placed in the flask, and the cell suspension was transferred into a falcon. The falcons were then centrifuged at 1,200rpm for five minutes. The cell pellet was resuspended in fibroblast growth medium, and the cells were put into a six-well plate, with 50,000 cells to each well.

7.4 Cell culture experiments – stimulation protocols

7.4.1 Macrophage polarization in M1 and M2 state

Macrophage polarization into M1 and M2 states was established as part of this work. For M1 polarization, the macrophages were treated with LPS (10 ng/ml) for 24 hours. For M2 polarization, they were treated with IL-4 and IL-13 (both 10 ng/ml) for 24 hours. Before stimulation, the macrophages were starved for 24 hours using a macrophage-starving medium.

Estrogen treatment

Before E2 stimulation, the macrophages were starved for 24 hours. E2 stimulation was done together with polarization into M1 and M2 cell states. For the E2-treated group, estrogen was added at a concentration of 10 nM. For the vehicle-treated group (negative group), Dextrin was added at a concentration of 10 nM.

7.4.2 Fibroblast activation with TNF-α for 24 hours

For future experiments with estrogen effects on fibroblast activation, a stimulation protocol with TNF- α was established. Cells were first starved for 24 hours with fibroblast-starving medium. After 12 hours, 20ng/ml TNF- α was pipetted into fibroblast-starving medium for 12 hours. The cells were stimulated for 24 hours overall. The medium for the negative group was not supplied with a stimulant.

Estrogen treatment

Cells were starved for 24 hours with fibroblast-starving medium. First, the cells were stimulated for 12 hours with 10 nM E2 or 10 nM Dextrin. After 12 hours, 20ng/ml TNF- α was pipetted into the cells for another 12 hours.

7.4.3 Cell culture experiments – co-culture of fibroblasts/macrophages

For the co-culture experiments, the supernatant of stimulated macrophages (LPS, LPS and E2, IL-4 and IL-13, IL-4 and IL-13, and E2) was used to stimulate isolated murine cardiac fibroblasts. For the stimulation, macrophage-conditioned supernatant was mixed with fibroblast-starving medium at a ratio of 1:1 and placed on the cells. For the conditioned medium, macrophages were stimulated for 24 hours. For the negative group, fibroblast-starving medium and macrophage-starving medium were mixed at a ratio of 1:1, and then placed on the fibroblasts. The macrophage-conditioned medium was filtered from the remaining macrophages and cell debris in the medium prior to adding to the fibroblast culture.

7.5 Biochemical techniques

7.5.1 Protein extraction

Proteins were extracted using Laemmli buffer. The protein solution was cooked for 10 minutes at 96°C and stored at -80°C until further processing.

Determination of protein concentration

The amount of total protein was evaluated with the Pierce[™] 660 nm Protein Assay according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The concentration was measured in a flat bottom 96-well plate using a multiwave photometer at 660 nm. The concentration determined was used in western blot analysis.

7.5.2 Western blot analysis

The Criterion[™] Vertical Electrophoresis Cell System was used for the SDS-PAGE. The glassware was washed with water and acetone. An SDS-separating gel (10% or 12%) was first prepared, and then covered with isopropanol. After a complete polymerization, isopropanol was aspirated with Whatman paper, and a 5% SDS-sacking gel was then poured on top. The protein extracts were run on the SDS-PAGE for 80 min at 100 volts and 400 mA for one hour with the

power supply unit Power Pac 3000. A protein ladder was used as a control for the protein weight. After gel electrophoresis, the separating gel and the nitrocellulose membrane were equilibrated for five minutes at room temperature in Millipore water and then in transfer buffer. The gel and the membrane were placed between three layers of Whatman paper in a tank blot transfer cell. The transfer was run for 1.5 hours at 100 volts. The transfer was verified by staining the membrane with Ponceau red, and the membrane was then washed three times for five minutes with TBST. The membranes were blocked with 5% BSA solution for one hour and incubated overnight at 4°C with the primary antibodies. The dilution of antibodies was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. After one hour of incubation with secondary antibodies, specific bands were visualized through chemiluminescence using an enhanced chemo luminescence (ECL) kit. To analyze protein expression, the protein level of the target protein was normalized to tubulin using ImageLab software.

7.6 Molecular biological techniques

7.6.1 RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis

For RNA isolation, 1 ml per 1x10⁶ of the extraction reagent RNA-Bee was applied to the cells. 0.2 ml chloroform were added per 1 ml of cell suspension and firmly shaken for two minutes at room temperature. The solution was incubated for five minutes on ice and then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm at 4°C for 10 minutes. The upper phase containing the RNA was transferred to a new tube. The equal volume of cooled isopropanol was applied, and samples were firmly shaken. The RNA was precipitated at -20°C overnight. After precipitation, the samples were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm at 4°C for 30 minutes. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was washed with 80% ethanol. The samples were centrifuged at 8,000 rpm at 4°C for five minutes, and the supernatant was discarded. The pellet was air-dried at room temperature and carefully resuspended in ultra-pure diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC)-H₂O. The RNA content was determined photometrically at a wavelength of λ = 260 nm. The purity of the RNA was determined via the A260nm/A280nm ratio. The samples were stored at -80°C until further processing. The reverse transcription reaction from 500 ng of RNA template was performed using the SuperScript® VILOTM cDNA Synthesis Kit as per the manufacturer's instructions.

7.6.2 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

Real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification was performed in a StepOne Real-Time PCR System using the Brilliant SYBR Green qPCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). PCR amplifications were conducted as follows: two minutes at 95°C; 40 cycles of 35 sec at 95°C, 45 sec at an annealing temperature of 62°C and 1:30 minutes at 72°C; and finally, five minutes at 72°C. The relative amount of target mRNA was determined using the comparative threshold (Ct) method by normalizing target mRNA Ct values to those for Hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase (HPRT; Δ Ct). Statistical analyses of real-time PCR data were performed using Δ Ct values. All real-time results were expressed as fold changes in mRNA expression with respect to the control cells. All results were normalized to the expression of the housekeeping gene HPRT in the PCR reactions.

7.6.3 Immunofluorescence of formaldehyde fixed cells

The presence of macrophage-characterizing receptors (CD11b, F4/80) was confirmed via immunofluorescence. The cells were stained with CD11b, F4/80 and CD31 antibodies according to the manufacturer's protocol. 1.5×10^4 cells were seeded in eight-chamber slides and cultured in DMEM in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C. 24 h after seeding, the cells were washed with DPBS to remove dead cells, and the growth medium was replaced by a starving medium. Next, cells were fixated with Histofix (4%) for 20 min at room temperature and washed with PBS. Afterwards, the cells were permeabilized by applying Triton X-100 diluted in PBS (0.2%) for five minutes and then washed three times for five minutes with PBS-T. The cells were blocked for one hour in 3% BSA/PBS-T, and the primary antibody, which was diluted in 1% BSA/PBS-T according to the manufacturer's protocol, was applied overnight at 4°C. Following this, the cells were washed three times for 10 minutes each with PBS-T. The secondary antibody, diluted in 1% BSA/PBS-T according to the manufacturer's protocol, was applied to the cells and incubated for one hour at room temperature. The secondary antibody was removed, and DAPI staining (1:50,000) was directly performed for five minutes. Afterwards, the cells were washed three times for 10 minutes each with PBS-T and air dried afterwards. Finally, the cells were covered with a glass cover slip. Imaging was conducted with a 40x immersion objective lens and a BZ-9000E fluorescence microscope.

7.6.4 Sirius red staining of paraffin sections

First, the paraffin sections were heated for one hour at 60 °C. To remove the paraffin, the sections were overlaid with Neo-Clear for 15 minutes, after which they were alternatingly overlaid with alcohol solutions in decreasing concentrations (96%, 80%, 70%, and 50%, each at 20 seconds) and distillated water. For the staining, the sections were covered with Sirius red solution and then washed for one minute using distillated water. The sections were then overlaid with Neo-Clear for another 10 minutes; after this was removed, the cells were covered with a glass cover slip. To prevent the sections from drying out, they were covered with Vecta Mount, and the glass slips were sealed with nail polish. On the day of the experiment, imaging was conducted with a 40x immersion objective lens. The amount of red staining was measured using Visi-View software.

7.7 EAM treatment protocol

Young male and female Lewis rats were immunized with porcine myocardial myosin by subcutaneous injection into the paw in two 1-mg doses on day 0 and day 7 of the animal model treatment schedule. The end of the treatment schedule was on day 21 after the first immunization of animals, with the scarification of rodents for further biochemical analysis. Dr. Sarah Jeuthe from the Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin performed the treatment of animals. For further tissue processing and biochemical analysis, cryo-conserved rodent hearts were provided for this work.

Immunohistological analysis of EAM heart sections

First, paraffin was removed from the heart sections for 30 minutes, and they were then incubated with RT anti-ArgI 1:100 (Santa Cruz sc-18357) for 30 minutes, washed and again incubated with RT biotinylated rabbit anti-goat 1:1,000 (Dianova) for another 30 minutes. Next, RT AP-Streptavidin rtu (Agilent) was used for 30 minutes on the heart sections, followed by 16 minutes of incubation with RT FastRed Chromogen. The probes were then cooked for one minute in HIER-Puffer at pH8. This was followed by 30 minutes of RT anti-CD68 1:250 (Amsbio PA-1518) incubation, the washing of the sections, and another 30 minutes of RT Alexa488 donkey anti-rabbit 1:100 (Invitrogen) incubation. Cell nucleus staining was performed using RT DAPI 1:1,000 for five minutes. Dr. Sarah Jeuthe from the Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin performed heart section immunostaining to calculate the replacement fibrosis score and percentage of infiltrates in the myocardium. PD Dr. Anja Kühl

of the Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin performed heart section immunostaining to show sex differences in myocardial infiltrates.

7.8 Statistical analysis

The data are given as means \pm SEM, where means indicate biological replicates. Comparisons of the means between the groups were performed using the Mann-Whitney test. For two-group comparisons, two-way ANOVA was performed. All analyses were done using PRISM (GraphPad, San Diego, CA). *P* values were two-sided, and the statistical significance level was set at 0.05.

8 Results

8.1 Sex differences in EAM

An animal model was used to study sex differences in autoimmune myocarditis. The validation of this animal model included proving the effectiveness of the treatment protocol (triggering an inflammatory state of heart tissue, which leads to fibrotic remodelling) and verifying sexdependent differences between male and female rodents. Dr. Sarah Jeuthe from the Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin performed the EAM treatment protocol. For further tissue processing and biochemical analysis, I was provided with cryoconserved rodent hearts.

The ejection fraction of male EAM rodents decreases over time

Male and female rats were treated with CFA and cardiac myosin, and the ejection fraction was then measured via MRI at day 14 and day 21 after immunization. The ejection fraction was significantly decreased in male but not in female rats 14 and 21 days after immunization (p<0.05 and p>0.05; Fig. 1A). Dr. Sarah Jeuthe from the Charité – Universitätsmedizin obtained the data for the analysis of ejection fraction by performing MRI signaling on EAM animals.

A



Figure 1: Ejection fraction of male EAM rodents decreases over time.

(A) The ejection fraction was determined at days 0, 14, and 21 after immunization. Shown above are the means and SE from male and female rats after immunization (*p<0.05; n.s.: not significant, Mann Whitney test, n= 9-21/group).

Inflammatory infiltrates are found in male and female EAM heart sections, but fibrotic remodelling is only found in male ones

The analysis of the percentage of immune infiltrates in the myocardium showed a significant increase in both male and female immunized animals after 21 days compared to healthy rats (p<0.001 and p<0.05; Fig. 2A). Male rats tended to show an increased percentage of infiltrates compared to female rats 21 days after immunization (p>0.05; Fig. 2A). The replacement fibrosis score showed a significantly increased fibrosis formation in male rodent hearts, but not in female hearts (p<0.001 and p>0.05; Fig. 2B). Dr. Sarah Jeuthe from the Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin obtained the data for the analysis of infiltrates in myocardium and the replacement fibrosis score by performing immunostaining of EAM heart sections.





(A) Percentage of immune infiltrates in myocardium. (B) Replacement fibrosis score of heart sections from male and female rats 21 days after immunization. Values are shown as mean \pm SEM, n=4-9/group (*p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001; n.s.: not significant; two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Increased fibrosis formation in male EAM heart sections

In order to analyze sex differences in fibrosis formation in male and female EAM heart sections, Sirius red staining of heart sections was performed. The analysis of this experiment showed significantly increased fibrosis formation in male rodent heart sections compared to female ones (p<0.05; Fig. 3A).



A

Figure 3: Increased fibrosis formation in male EAM heart sections.

(A) Intensity of Sirius red staining (percent) in EAM heart paraffin sections. Values are shown as mean \pm SEM, n=4/group (*p<0.05, Mann Whitney test).

The population of CD68 and arginase-positive macrophages (M2) is higher in female EAM heart section infiltrates than in male ones

Immunostaining of general macrophage marker CD68 and M2 subpopulation marker arginase showed an increased population of M2-differentiated macrophages in female EAM heart sections compared to male ones. PD Dr. Anja Kühl of the Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin performed the immunostaining of general macrophage marker CD68 and M2 subpopulation marker arginase in EAM heart sections by immunostaining the EAM heart sections.



Figure 4: The population of CD68 and arginase-positive macrophages (M2) is higher in female EAM heart section infiltrates than in male ones.

(A) Immunostaining of male heart section with the antibody against arginase (green) and CD68 (red). (B) Immunostaining of female heart section with the antibody against arginase (green) and CD68 (red). A, B: 40x magnification; C: number of CD68+ cells; D: number of CD68+ Arg+ cells. Values are shown as mean \pm SEM, n=4-9/group (*p<0.05, Mann Whitney test).

Upregulation of inflammatory markers iNOS, c-fos and fibrosis marker COL3A1 in male EAM heart samples

In order to investigate sex differences and the effectiveness of EAM immunization, quantitative real-time PCR analysis of heart tissue was performed.

Two-way ANOVA analysis with Bonferroni correction

For c-fos, a pro-inflammatory marker and transcription factor, a significant increase was found in male but not in female tissue (p<0.05 and p>0.05; Fig. 5A). For STAT1, another transcription

factor of the pro-inflammatory M1 spectrum, no significant increase was found in either male or female tissue after EAM treatment (p>0.05; Fig. 5B). A significant increase of the proinflammatory marker iNOS was found in male but not in female tissue (p<0.05 and p>0.05; Fig. 5C). For IL-1β, a cytokine of the M1 spectrum, no significant increase was found in either male or female tissue after EAM treatment (p>0.05; Fig. 5D). In addition, for the fibrosis marker COL3A1, a significantly increased expression was found on the RNA level in male tissue but not in female tissue (p<0.05 and p>0.05; Fig. 5E). For the fibrosis marker COL1A1 and MCP-1, no significant increase was found in male or female tissue (p>0.05; Fig. 5 F and G).

Two-way ANOVA analysis of overall data variation

Two-way ANOVA analysis was used to identify sex and treatment as well as a possible interaction between the two as significant sources of data variation in each single experiment. Two-way ANOVA analysis revealed the treatment of rats with the EAM protocol to be a significant source of data variation for inflammatory markers c-fos (p<0.01; Fig. 5A) and iNOS (p<0.05, Fig. 5C). Moreover, for the increase of fibrosis marker COL3A1 (p<0.05, Fig. 5E), COL1A1 (p<0.05, Fig. 5 F) and MCP-1 (p<0.05, Fig. 5 G), two-way ANOVA analysis showed treatment to be a significant source of data variation. For STAT1 (Fig. 5B) and IL-1β (Fig. 5D), no significant difference in animals treated by EAM protocol could be shown. In contrast to treatment, sex could not be determined to be a significant source of data variation in two-way ANOVA analysis of experiments 5A to 5F.



B





qRT-PCR analysis of the relative expression rate of (A) c-fos, (B) STAT 1, (C) iNOS, (D) IL-1 β , (E) COL3A1, (F) COL1A1 and (G) MCP-1. (*) indicates significance between immunized and non-immunized groups. Values are expressed as mean ± SEM; n=4-9/group (*p<0.05; n.s.: not significant; two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Activation of pERK (male only) and pp38 (male and female) pathways in EAM heart samples

Two-way ANOVA analysis with Bonferroni correction

In order to investigate sex differences and the effectiveness of EAM immunization, western blot analysis of heart tissue was performed to investigate the activation (by phosphorylation) of MAP Kinases ERK-1/2 and p38. The pERK/ERK ratio was significantly increased in male tissue but not in female heart tissue (p<0.05 and p>0.05; Fig. 6A). The pp38/p38 ratio was significantly increased in both male and female heart tissue (p<0.01; Fig. 6B).

Two-way ANOVA analysis of overall data variation

Two-way ANOVA analysis showed that treatment was a significant source of data variation for the pERK/ERK ratio (p<0.01) and the pp38/p38 ratio (p<0.01). Sex could not be determined to be a significant source of data variation by two-way ANOVA analysis (p>0.05; Fig. 6 A and B).



Figure 6: Activation of pERK (male only) and pp38 (male and female) pathways in EAM heart samples.

Western blot analysis of (A) pERK/ERK ratio and (B) pp38/p38 ratio. (*) indicates significance between treated and untreated groups. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM; n=4-9/group (*p<0.05; **p<0.01; n.s.: not significant; two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Sex Differences in the EAM Model

It was shown that there are sex differences in the clinical outcome of EAM animals. Only males showed significantly decreased ejection fractions. On the tissue level, this was associated with increased amounts of myocardial infiltrates in both sexes, but there was a significantly increased fibrosis replacement score only in males. This finding was supported by the stronger fibrosis formation in male EAM sections compared to female ones revealed in the analysis of the Sirius red staining of EAM heart sections. On a cellular level, sex differences in the composition of myocardial infiltrates were demonstrated. The amount of M2-polarized macrophages was higher in female heart sections than in male ones. On a molecular level, the heart tissue of male EAM animals showed a significant increase of key pro-inflammatory markers of the M1 spectrum. Molecular markers of fibrotic remodelling were also significantly increased only in male EAM heart tissue.

8.2 Cell culture experiments

8.2.1 Cell culture experiments – macrophages

Cell culture experiments with murine bone marrow-derived macrophages were used to show sex differences in macrophage polarization in order to support the thesis that sex differences relating to these cells could partially explain the sex differences found in the EAM model.

Macrophage characterization

Macrophage marker CD11b and F4/80 are expressed on BMMs

In order to analyze whether the cells isolated from murine bone marrow were macrophages, they were immune stained with antibodies against CD11b and F4/80, specific macrophage markers. Immunostaining showed CD11b and F4/80 immune-reactive cells (Fig. 7).



Figure 7: Macrophage markers CD11b and F4/80 are expressed on isolated cells (BMM).

(A-C) Negative control (without primary antibody); (D-F) Immunostaining with antibody against F4/80; (G-I) Immunostaining with antibody against CD11b (A-I: 40x magnification; scale bar: 50 μ m), n=3.

Macrophage activation with LPS

LPS promotes a stronger pro-inflammatory phenotype (M1) in male compared to female murine BMMs

In order to investigate sex differences in the activation of pro-inflammatory macrophages, male and female BMMs were treated with LPS for 24 hours.

Two-way ANOVA analysis with Bonferroni correction

The M1 markers c-fos (p<0.001 and p<0.05), NF κ B (p<0.001 and p<0.01), IL-1 β (p<0.001 and p<0.05), TNF- α (p<0.001 and p<0.05) and TLR 4 (p<0.001) were upregulated in LPS-treated male and female cells (Fig. 8 A-E). The M2 marker MCP-1 (p<0.01) and the M2 (immune-regulatory) marker IL-10 (p<0.001 and p<0.01) were also upregulated in LPS-treated male and female macrophages (Fig.8 F and G). LPS treatment leads to the downregulation of TIM3 expression in male and female murine BMMs (p<0.001; Fig. 8H).

Two-way ANOVA analysis of overall data variation

For all experiments, two-way ANOVA analysis showed that treatment was a significant source of data variation (p<0.001; Fig. A-H). Two-way ANOVA analysis showed a significant interaction between sex and treatment for NF κ B (p<0.001), IL-1 β (p<0.001) and TNF- α (p<0.001). Two-way ANOVA analysis showed that sex was a significant source of data variation for a stronger M1 response in male murine BMMs, namely NF κ B (p<0.001), IL-1 β (p<0.001), IL-1 β (p<0.001) and TNF- α (p<0.001). The downregulation of TIM3 was stronger in male BMMs (two-way ANOVA: sex was a significant source of data variation, p<0.001; significant interaction between sex and treatment, p<0.001).



D

F







С











Η

Figure 8: LPS promotes a stronger pro-inflammatory phenotype (M1) in male compared to female murine BMMs.

qRT-PCR analysis of the relative expression rate of (A) c-fos, (B) NF κ B, (C) IL-1 β , (D) TNF- α , (E) TLR 4, (F) MCP-1, (G) IL-10 and (H) TIM3. (*) indicates the significance between treated and untreated groups. Data is shown as mean ± SEM; n=3/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (*p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001; n.s.: not significant, A-H: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

LPS treatment increases the expression of NF κ B and promotes activation of p38 in male murine BMMs

In order to analyze sex differences in the inflammatory signal and in the activation of signal cascades, the protein expression of NF κ B, which is a prominent pro-inflammatory marker, and the activation of the MAP Kinases ERK and p38 were analyzed.

Two-way ANOVA analysis with Bonferroni correction

At the protein level, LPS-treated male murine BMMs showed an increased expression of NF κ B in comparison to non-treated male BMMS (p<0.05; Fig. 9A). In contrast, LPS treatment did not affect the expression of NF κ B in female murine BMMs (p>0.05; Fig. 9A). LPS treatment did not influence the activation of the ERK pathway in either male or in female murine BMMs (p>0.05; Fig. 9B). LPS activated the p38 pathway only in male and not female murine BMMs after 24h treatment (p<0.001 and p<0.05; Fig. 9C).

Two-way ANOVA analysis of overall data variation

Furthermore, two-way ANOVA analysis revealed sex (p<0.001) and treatment (p<0.05) as significant sources of data variation for NF κ B. The interaction between sex and treatment could be shown to be a significant source of data variation for the stronger M1 response regarding NF κ B increase (p<0.05).



Figure 9: LPS treatment increases the expression of NFkB and promotes activation of p38 in male murine BMMs.

Western blot analysis of the relative protein amount of (A) NF κ B, (B) pERK/ERK ratio and (C) pp38/p38 ratio. (*) indicates significance between treated and untreated groups. Values are expressed as mean ± SEM; n=3/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (*p<0.05; ***p<0.001; n.s.: not significant, A-C: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Macrophage activation with IL-4 and Il-13

IL-4 and IL-13 treatment promotes a stronger M2 phenotype in male BMMs

In order to analyze sex differences in the polarization of anti-inflammatory macrophages (M2), male and female murine BMMs were treated with IL-4 and IL-13 for 24 h.

Two-way ANOVA analysis with Bonferroni correction

IL-4/IL-13 long-term treatment significantly increased the expression of MCP-1 at the RNA level in male and female BMMs compared to untreated macrophages (p<0.001; Fig. 10B). YM1 (p<0.001 and p<0.05) and RELM- α (p<0.05 and p<0.01) markers were significantly increased in male and female BMMs after long-term treatment with IL-4/IL-13 (Fig. 10 C and D). IL-

4/IL-13 long-term treatment did not affect the expression of the M2 spectrum transcription factor STAT6 at the RNA level in either male or female BMMs (p>0.05; Fig. 10A). Furthermore, long-term treatment with IL-4 and IL-13 promoted a decreased expression of TNF- α in male and female BMMs (p<0.01; Fig. 10E), as well as IL-1 β in male and not in female BMMs (p<0.001 and p>0.05; Fig. 10F).

Two-way ANOVA analysis of overall data variation

Two-way ANOVA analysis revealed an interaction between sex and treatment for MCP-1, YM1 and IL-1 β (p<0.05, p<0.01, p<0.01), with sex being a significant source of data variation (p<0.01, p<0.01, p<0.05), and treatment also being a significant source of data variation (p<0.05, p<0.001, p<0.001)





Figure 10: IL-4 and IL-13 treatment promotes a stronger M2 phenotype in male BMMs. qRT-PCR analysis of the relative expression rate of (A) STAT6, (B) MCP-1, (C) RELM- α , (D) YM1, (E) TNF- α and (F) IL-1 β . (*) indicates significance between treated and untreated groups. Values are shown as mean ± SEM; n=3/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (*p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001; n.s.: not significant, A-F: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

ERK and p38 are not activated by IL-4 and IL-13 treatment in murine BMMs

In order to analyze sex differences in the activation of downstream signal cascades, the phosphorylation of ERK and p38 was analyzed. On the protein level, IL-4/IL-13 long-term treatment did not show any effect on the phosphorylation of ERK and p38 in male or female murine BMMs (p>0.05; Figure 11 A and B).



Figure 11: ERK and p38 are not activated by IL-4 and IL-13 treatment in murine BMMs. Western blot analysis of (A) the pERK/ERK ratio and (B) the pp38/p38 ratio. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM; n=3/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (n.s.: not significant; A, B: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Estrogen treatment supports a pro-inflammatory phenotype (M1) in LPS-treated murine male BMMs

In order to investigate the effects of E2 on pro-inflammatory macrophages, male and female murine BMMs were co-treated with E2 and LPS.

Two-way ANOVA analysis with Bonferroni correction

E2 increased the c-fos expression at the RNA level in male but not in female LPS-treated BMMs (p<0.001 and p>0.05; Fig. 12A). The RNA expression of NF κ B and TNF- α was also significantly increased in males after long-term E2 treatment of LPS-treated BMMs (p<0.001; Fig. 12 B and C). In contrast, E2 treatment significantly decreased the expression of TIM3, a prominent anti-inflammatory factor, at the RNA level in male and female BMMs co-treated with LPS and E2 (p>0.05; Fig. 12D).

Two-way ANOVA analysis of overall data variation

Two-way ANOVA analysis showed an interaction between treatment and sex for TNF- α (p<0.01), with sex being a significant source of data variation (p<0.001), and treatment also being a significant source of data variation (p<0.01).



Figure 12: Estrogen treatment supports a pro-inflammatory phenotype (M1) in LPStreated murine male BMMs.

qRT-PCR analysis of the relative expression rate of (A) c-fos, (B) NF κ B, (C) TNF- α and (D) TIM3. (*) indicates significance between treated and untreated groups. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM; n=6/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (*p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001; n.s.: not significant; A-H: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Macrophage co-stimulation with IL-4/IL-13 and estrogen

Estrogen treatment inhibits polarization of IL-4- and IL-13-treated male BMMs into anti-inflammatory macrophages (M2)

In order to investigate the effects of E2 on anti-inflammatory macrophages, male and female murine BMMs were co-treated with E2 and IL-4/IL-13. Long-term E2 treatment significantly decreased the RNA expression of MCP-1 in male but not in female BMMs co-treated with IL-4/IL-13 and E2 (p<0.001 and p>0.05). The expression of TNF- α at the RNA level did not change after E2 treatment of male and female IL-4/IL-13-treated BMMs (p>0.05; Figure 13B)





qRT-PCR analysis of the relative expression rate of (A) MCP-1 and (B) TNF- α . (*) indicates significance between treated and untreated groups. Values are shown as mean \pm SEM; n=6/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (***p<0.001; n.s.: not significant; A, B: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Sex differences in macrophage polarization

Sex differences in macrophage polarization were shown. Male murine macrophages reacted to LPS treatment with a stronger polarization into the M1 phenotype. The upregulation of the signature molecular markers of the M1 phenotype was stronger in male cells than in female ones. This stronger polarization into the M1 phenotype in male macrophages was associated with a significant upregulation of the downstream signalling molecules NF κ B and p38 only in male cells. Treatment of macrophages with IL-4/IL-13 resulted in a stronger polarization of male cells into the M2 phenotype. Co-stimulation experiments with LPS and estrogen as well as IL4/II-13 and estrogen only showed significant estrogen effects in male cells and not in female ones. In male macrophage polarization, estrogen promoted the polarization into the M1 phenotype.

8.2.2 Cell culture experiments – fibroblasts

Cell culture experiments with murine cardiac fibroblasts were used to show that TNF- α (which can be secreted by macrophages) can activate cardiac fibroblasts.

TNF-α activates primary murine adult cardiac fibroblasts

In order to investigate sex differences in the activation of cardiac fibroblasts, murine adult cardiac primary fibroblasts were treated with TNF- α for 24 hours.

Two-way ANOVA analysis with Bonferroni correction

Long-term treatment with TNF- α significantly increased the RNA expression of MCP-1 in male and female adult cardiac primary fibroblasts (p<0.001; Fig. 14A). In addition, the RNA expression of IL-1 β and TGF- β , prominent pro-fibrotic factors, was significantly increased in male and female fibroblasts after TNF- α treatment (p<0.001; Fig. 14 B and C). TNF- α did not influence the expression of COL1A1 at the RNA level in male and female murine adult cardiac fibroblasts (p>0.05; Fig. 14D).

Two-way ANOVA analysis of overall data variation

Two-way ANOVA analysis revealed an interaction between sex and treatment for IL-1 β (p<0.001), with sex being a significant source of data variation (p<0.001); treatment was also a significant source for data variation (p<0.001).



Figure 14: TNF-α activates primary murine adult cardiac fibroblasts.

qRT-PCR analysis of the relative expression rate of (A) MCP-1, (B) IL-1 β , (C) TGF- β and (D) Col1A1. (*) indicates significance between treated and untreated groups. Values are shown as mean \pm SEM; n=3/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (***p<0.001; n.s.: not significant; A-D: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Cardiac fibroblast activation

It was shown that TNF- α (a cytokine derived by macrophages) is able to activate fibroblasts.

8.2.3 Cell culture experiments – co-culture of fibroblasts/macrophages

In order to investigate sex differences in the ability of macrophages to activate fibroblasts, differently treated male and female murine BMMs (LPS, IL-4/IL-13, LPS/E2, IL-4/IL-13/E2) were used to condition the cell culture medium, which was then used to activate isolated murine cardiac fibroblasts.

The conditioned medium from male pro-inflammatory macrophages is a stronger profibrotic activator of isolated murine cardiac fibroblasts compared to medium conditioned by female pro-inflammatory macrophages

In order to investigate whether a pro-inflammatory M1 environment has effects on the activation of male and female adult cardiac fibroblasts, male and female cardiac primary fibroblasts were treated with conditioned medium from BMMs treated with LPS for 24 h.

Two-way ANOVA analysis with Bonferroni correction

Male and female cardiac fibroblasts expressed significantly more MCP-1 after long-term treatment with conditioned M1 medium when compared with fibroblast growth under normal conditions (p<0.001; Fig. 15A). In addition, the RNA expression of arginase, a prominent profibrotic marker, was significantly increased in male and female fibroblasts treated with conditioned M1 medium (p<0.01 and p<0.05; Fig. 15B). Furthermore, the expression of the pro-fibrotic factor IL-1 β was significantly increased in male but not in female cardiac fibroblasts after treatment (p<0.01 and p>0.05; Fig. 15C). Pro-inflammatory factors, such as NF κ B and TNF- α , were also significantly increased after long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.001, p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.001, p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.001, p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.001, p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.001, p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.001, p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.001, p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.001; p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001; p<0.01 and p<0.001; p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment with male and female conditioned M1 medium (p<0.001; p<0.01; p<0.01; p<0.05; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment (p<0.02; Fig. 15 Long-term treatment); Fig. 15 Long-t

Two-way ANOVA analysis of overall data variation

In addition, two-way ANOVA analysis showed sex to be a significant source of data variation for MCP-1 (p<0.001), NF κ B (p<0.001), TNF- α (p<0.001) and IL-1 β (p<0.05). Two-way ANOVA analysis showed treatment to be a significant source of variation for MCP-1 (p<0.001), NF κ B (p<0.001), TNF- α (p<0.001) and IL-1 β (p<0.05). For these markers, the increase was stronger in male cells compared to female cells. Two-way ANOVA analysis showed a significant interaction between sex and treatment for MCP-1 (p<0.001), NF κ B (p<0.001), TNF- α (p<0.001) and IL-1 β (p<0.05).



Figure 15: Conditioned medium from male pro-inflammatory macrophages is a stronger pro-fibrotic activator of isolated murine cardiac fibroblasts compared to medium conditioned by female pro-inflammatory macrophages.

qRT-PCR analysis of the relative expression rate of (A) MCP-1, (B) Arginase, (C) IL-1 β , (D) NF κ B and (E) TNF- α . (*) indicates significance between treated and untreated groups. Values are shown as mean ± SEM; n=3/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (*p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001; A-E: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Male and female M2-conditioned medium activates primary murine adult cardiac fibroblasts

In order to investigate whether an anti-inflammatory M2 environment has effects on the activation of male and female adult cardiac fibroblasts, both were treated with conditioned medium from BMMs treated with IL-4/IL-13 for 24 h.

Two-way ANOVA analysis with Bonferroni correction

The treatment with conditioned M2 medium significantly increased the expression of MCP-1 in male and female adult primary cardiac fibroblasts in comparison to untreated ones (p<0.001; Fig. 16A). Accordingly, the pro-fibrotic marker arginase was also significantly increased in male and female fibroblasts after treatment (p<0.01 and p<0.001; Fig. 16B). In addition, the RNA expression of the pro-fibrotic factor IL-1 β was significantly increased in male and female treated cardiac fibroblasts compared to untreated ones (p<0.001; Fig. 16C).



Figure 16: Male and female M2-conditioned medium activates primary murine adult cardiac fibroblasts. qRT-PCR analysis of the relative expression rate of (A) MCP-1, (B) arginase and (C) IL-1 β . (*) indicates significance between treated and untreated groups. Values are shown as mean \pm SEM; n=3/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (**p<0.01; ***p<0.001; n.s.: not significant; A: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Estrogen has no effects on the pro-inflammatory M1 environment regarding the ability to activate fibroblasts

In order to investigate if E2 has effects on the pro-inflammatory M1 environment, male and female primary cardiac fibroblasts were treated with conditioned M1 (LPS/E2 co-treatment) medium for 24h. An E2 supplementation to the conditioned M1 medium did not affect the expression of MCP-1, arginase or IL-1 β in male or female cardiac fibroblasts (p>0.05; Fig. 17 A-C).



Figure 17: Estrogen has no effects on the pro-inflammatory M1 environment regarding the ability to activate fibroblasts.

qRT-PCR analysis of the relative expression rate of (A) MCP-1, (B) arginase and (C) IL-1 β . Values are shown as mean \pm SEM, n=6/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (n.s.: not significant; A: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Estrogen has no effects on the anti-inflammatory M2 environment regarding the ability to activate fibroblasts

In order to investigate whether E2 has effects on the anti-inflammatory M2 environment, male and female primary cardiac fibroblasts were treated with conditioned M2 (IL-4/IL-13/E2 co-treatment) medium for 24 h. An E2 supplementation to the conditioned M2 medium did not affect the expression of MCP-1 or arginase in male or female cardiac fibroblasts (p>0.05; Figure 18 A and B).



Figure 18: Estrogen has no effects on the anti-inflammatory M2 environment regarding the ability to activate fibroblasts.

qRT-PCR analysis of the relative expression rate of (A) MCP-1 and (B) arginase. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM; n=6/group; experiments were performed in duplicate (n.s.: not significant; A: two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction).

Sex differences in macrophage-fibroblast cell-cell interaction

Sex differences in macrophage-derived fibroblast activation were shown. The capability of male pro-inflammatory macrophage-conditioned medium to activate male murine cardiac fibroblasts was stronger than that of medium conditioned by female pro-inflammatory macrophages used on female murine cardiac fibroblasts.

9 Discussion

This study showed that the worse clinical outcome and severe formation of cardiac fibrosis in male EAM animals compared to female ones is associated with sex differences in the composition of myocardial infiltrates (regarding macrophages and their differently polarized subtypes) in the heart sections of EAM animals. Myocardial infiltrates of female EAM animals showed a higher amount of M2 macrophages, while the heart tissue of male EAM animals showed a significantly increased expression of signature markers of the M1 spectrum. Subsequently, cell culture experiments with murine macrophages and murine cardiac fibroblasts were used to support the thesis that sex differences found in the EAM model could be based on sex differences in macrophage polarization and macrophage pro-fibrotic signalling. Male macrophages polarized more strongly into a pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype after LPS stimulation compared to female ones. The medium conditioned by these cells is a stronger activator of fibroblasts compared to medium conditioned by female cells, suggesting that sex differences in macrophage activation may lead to sex differences in cardiac remodelling in EAM.

Sex differences in the EAM model are associated with sex differences in myocardial infiltrates: male sex promotes a stronger M1 response, while female sex promotes a higher quantity of M2 macrophages

In an EAM rat model, Schmerler et al. showed that male rodents developed autoimmune myocarditis 21 days after immunization with cardiac myosin and CFA in the paw. ¹⁷² These rats showed an increased amount of myocardial immune cell infiltrates, CD68 immune-reactive cells, and cardiac fibrosis. ¹⁷² The EAM immunization protocol that was used models the chronic inflammatory phase of post-viral myocarditis, whose best-characterized strain is CVB3. ⁶ This phase of chronic inflammation is characterized by ongoing inflammation, fibrotic remodelling, the appearance of antimyosin antibodies, and the development of DCM as an end stage of the disease. ¹¹⁴ Given that the majority of the immune cells in the resting heart are macrophages, ¹¹⁵ this study attempted to demonstrate their role in the reported sex differences in autoimmune myocarditis.

This study investigated sex differences in the amount of myocardial immune infiltrates. Male EAM rats presented more immune cell infiltrates in the heart than female rats 21 days after immunization. The amount of CD68 immune-reactive cells was similar in the hearts of male and female EAM rats; however, female EAM rats had more CD68+ ArgI+ cells, suggesting that the macrophages in the cardiac tissue of female EAM animals are M2 anti-inflammatory

macrophages.¹⁷³ In the context of recent findings on the spectrum of macrophage polarization, this is an interesting result. Mosser et al. characterized the different subpopulations of macrophages as a fluent spectrum with distinctive roles in inflammation, tissue repair and immune regulation, whose effects may even contradict each other. The M2 response counteracts the detrimental effects of the pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization during acute inflammation, suggesting that a predominant M2 response in female EAM rats is cardioprotective. ⁷³ Fairweather et al. showed that sex differences in viral myocarditis and postmyocarditis complications, e.g., the development of cardiac autoimmunity and the development of DCM, are not caused by the virus itself, which is cleared 14 days after infection in both sexes, but by different female and male immune responses. ⁶ They also showed that, for a viral myocarditis model, the detrimental immune response in male individuals is driven by a predominantly M1 response, as compared to a stronger M2 response in female animals. ⁸⁷ Using the EAM model, this study confirms findings from the CVB3 animal model that the sex bias in myocarditis is not driven by the viral noxa, but rather by the differing immune responses of female and male organisms. Using the EAM model, this study shows that macrophages and their polarization are likely to be highly important for the origin of sex differences in cardiac inflammation. In accordance with the stronger M1 response in male animals, sex differences in the expression of prominent pro-inflammatory mediators such as c-fos and iNOS were shown. Male EAM rats showed an increased expression of c-fos and iNOS compared to nonimmunized animals, while in female EAM rats the expression of both factors was unchanged, suggesting that female rats did not develop a pro-inflammatory response after immunization with cardiac myosin and CFA. C-fos¹⁷⁴ is a transcription factor of the M1 spectrum, and iNOS ⁷³ is a signature M1 enzyme. PCR analysis was performed on overall processed cardiac tissue (not only on immune cell infiltrates), and this inaccuracy probably interfered with the characterisation of the distinct expression patterns of the macrophage populations involved. Consequently, a larger number of EAM animals were used to overcome this inaccuracy, in order to show sex differences in more molecular markers of macrophage subpopulations.

Recently, estrogen was shown to regulate macrophage polarization in different pathological tissue states, ^{175–177} suggesting that E2 is directly involved in the polarization into M2 macrophages in female EAM rats. The next step would be to investigate the role of sex hormones in macrophage polarization in the EAM model. Fairweather et al. noted that the sex bias in cardiac inflammation is driven by sex hormones. ¹⁷⁸ Testosterone is associated with increased myocardial inflammation and an M1 response of macrophages in male individuals. ⁸⁵ Furthermore, Regitz-Zagrosek et al. showed that estrogen benefits a cardio-protective female

tissue response towards harmful noxa in general by reducing cardiac myocyte apoptosis, inhibiting reactive oxygen species-induced cardiac damage, and by counteracting fibrosis and hypertrophy-inducing cellular pathways. ⁴⁵ The activation of ERK and p38 was increased in EAM rats in comparison to non-immunized rats; however, no sex differences in the phosphorylation rate of ERK and p38 were found in this study, suggesting that other cascades are involved in the increased expression of pro-inflammatory mediators in male EAM rats. Furthermore, this study showed an increased expression of Col3A1 in the cardiac tissue from male EAM rats, while female EAM rats expressed similar amounts of Col3A1 compared to non-immunized female rats. In the study by Schmerler et al., male rats showed severe fibrosis formation in EAM heart sections. ¹⁷² Accordingly, this study demonstrates that male but not female EAM rats develop pathological rates of fibrosis in the heart after immunization, indicating that female rats undergo a different immune response that is not involved in fibrosis formation. Gonadectomized EAM rats could be compared to gonadectomized EAM rats receiving E2 treatment during the EAM protocol to differentiate the protective E2 effects on the acute immune response from long-lasting, cardio-protective E2 effects on female heart tissue prior to EAM treatment. However, physiologically, estrogen does not occur in high concentrations in the male organism (only in the pathologic state of adipositas), ⁶⁴ which is why, in male EAM rodents, the effects of testosterone on disease progress should be further studied. It has been reported that testosterone affects the immune system. ^{81,179} Furthermore, Frisancho-Kiss et al. showed that testosterone increases cardiac inflammation. ⁶⁹ Future research could analyze myocardial cell infiltrates and their distinct composition regarding macrophage subtypes in these animals (gonadectomized female EAM rodents: negative group vs. estrogentreated group, and gonadectomized male EAM rodents: negative group vs. testosterone-treated group). Schmerler et al. demonstrated that male EAM rats had decreased stroke volume and ejection fraction.¹⁷² Accordingly, the ejection fraction was decreased in male EAM rats in the animals used for this study (Sarah Jeuthe from the Charité - Universitätsmedizin obtained preliminary data). Interestingly, in female rats, the ejection fraction was not affected after immunization, suggesting that the different immune response in female animals preserved the cardiac function. However, the statistical analysis did not show sex differences to be significant, although a high number of animals were included in the experiment's treatment protocol. Variations in the ejection fraction have also been observed in healthy subjects, and many factors other than a rodent's sex influence them. ⁸⁴ This could explain the difficulty in showing a significant difference between male and female EAM animals.

The findings that male macrophages tend to polarize into an M1 phenotype with an increased pro-inflammatory character and a stronger capability to activate fibroblasts of the same sex could contribute to the observed sex differences in the EAM model.

The processed cardiac tissue from EAM rats only showed the overall reaction of the inflamed tissue. For this reason, the distinct reaction of single-cell types, such as macrophages and fibroblasts, could not be distinguished satisfactorily. Thus, sex differences in macrophage polarization and fibroblast activation were investigated in vitro. Therefore, the second part of this study focused on cell culture experiments by using murine bone marrow-derived macrophages and murine cardiac fibroblasts. In this study, the in vitro experiments with macrophages demonstrated that male macrophages express a stronger pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype, leading to a prominent activation of fibroblasts after treatment with medium conditioned by M1 macrophages. These results suggest that the myocardial macrophages found in male EAM rats have a pro-inflammatory phenotype. The observation that the M1 markers cfos and iNOS are significantly increased in male EAM samples not in female ones indicates this. ^{137,138} The appearance of autoantibodies is an important risk factor for detrimental progress with myocarditis. ^{2,50} Autoantibody-related autoimmune diseases are more common in females because estrogen promotes a TH2-type immune system response with B-cell activation. ¹⁸⁰ However, this must be confirmed for the EAM model. The development of autoantibody-driven autoimmunity occurs in two ways: molecular mimicry between viral proteins and cardiac proteins, and the exposure of cardiac proteins to the host's immune system during inflammation and the harming of cardiac cells. ^{27,28} Thus, increased M1 polarization in male macrophages, which was observed in cell culture experiments, could lead to enhanced cardiomyocyte damage as well as the strong, long-lasting exposure of myocardial proteins to the host's immune system, giving rise to the formation of cardiac autoantibodies. This mechanism could even be enhanced by M1 macrophages having a stronger antigen presentation activity compared to M2 macrophages, leading to the stronger induction of cardiac autoimmunity. ¹⁸¹ On the cell culture level, the increased M1 polarization of male murine BMMs was regulated by a more strongly increased expression of c-fos and NFkB transcription factors, which are important downstream targets of LPS signalling. ¹³⁵ Conclusively, M1 signature cytokines TNF- α and IL-1 β were also more strongly upregulated in male cells, whereas the downregulation of immune-regulatory marker TIM3 ³³ was stronger in male LPS-treated murine BMMs. This is also an interesting finding, as it was demonstrated that TIM3 expression correlates negatively with the severity of cardiac inflammation. ³³ Western blot protein analysis showed that the p38 pathway was significantly upregulated in LPS-treated male murine BMMs, but not in female ones. Activated p38 is known as a downstream signalling target of LPS and is important in M1 macrophage polarization signalling. ^{135–137} TLR 4 activation is a strong inductor of M1 polarization; ¹³⁶ it is also important for CVB3 cell invasion, and its genetic variations are associated with stronger CVB3-mediated cell damage. ^{15,16} Moreover, the polymorphism of TLR was found to be an important risk factor in myocarditis.¹⁸² However, LPS treatment increased TLR 4 expression in female and male murine BMMs with no significant sex difference, suggesting that this mechanism makes cells of both sexes more vulnerable to viral cell invasion during the acute phase of viral myocarditis. This study attempted to show an M2 macrophage phenotype, which is characteristic of the female immune response during the EAM immunization protocol. The spectrum of M2 type macrophages is broad, and some M2 subspecies are also pro-fibrotic, such as the M2 (tissue repair) macrophages. ^{73,183} Notably, IL-4 and IL-13 treatment of murine BMMs also resulted in a stronger M2 (tissue repair) subtype activation in male murine BMMs. In addition, male murine BMMs reacted with stronger upregulation of distinctive M2 markers such as MCP-1.⁷³ However, pro-inflammatory M1 markers such as TNF-a were also downregulated more strongly in male murine BMMs. The co-culture experiments indicate that the M2 subtype is capable of activating fibroblasts. Therefore, it can also be assumed that male rodents not only show a stronger M1-driven immune response but also benefit pro-fibrotic subtypes of the M2 spectrum, rather the immune-regulatory and inhibitory ones. The next step would be to investigate whether there is an M2 polarization treatment protocol that leads to a stronger expression of distinct subtype markers in female murine BMMs. These could be markers of the immune-regulatory M2 subtype, which can be obtained by stimulating macrophages with IL-10 or apoptotic cells. 73,137,184

To investigate the role of estrogen in macrophage polarization, estrogen co-stimulation was performed together with LPS or IL-4 and IL-13. Estrogen co-treatment of macrophages only showed effects in male-treated cells. The only exception was the downregulation of the immuno-inhibitory marker TIM3 by estrogen treatment in male and female murine BMMs. Frisancho-Kiss et al. demonstrated that TIM3 is a key marker for determining sex differences in inflammatory heart disease. TIM3 was shown to be associated with a less detrimental disease progress. ⁶⁹ Other workgroups have reported that estrogen effects on female macrophages drive polarization into M2 phenotypes. ¹⁸⁵ The lack of estrogen effects in female primary cells could be explained by the fact that the female cells used in this study underwent estrogen-mediated cell modifications for a long period of time while still being part of the host's body, before being used for estrogen stimulation experiments. Longer estrogen treatment would perhaps overcome this pre-stimulation and show effects in female murine BMM polarization. However,

male murine BMMs reacted to estrogen treatment during LPS stimulation with an even stronger M1 polarization. The estrogen treatment aggravated the expression of TNF- α as well as of cfos and NFkB transcription factors, which are important downstream targets of M1 polarization in LPS signalling.¹³⁵ The effects of estrogen on M2 polarization of BMMs in a co-treatment experiment with IL4 and IL13 did not show results that were as distinct as those of M1 polarization experiments. Additional treatment with estrogen did not affect the polarization of female murine BMMs. On the other hand, for male murine BMMs, additional treatment with estrogen during IL-4- and IL-13-mediated polarization resulted in the attenuated expression of M2 marker MCP-1. Other studies have reported that the estrogen effects on immune cells highly depend on the estrogen concentrations used. ⁶³ It should be noted that estrogen is not a hormone that physiologically exists in high concentrations in the male system, except in nonphysiological conditions such as adipositas. ⁶⁴ Further studies of estrogen effects on both male and female macrophage polarization could include experiments to verify which ER is involved in the macrophage activation and polarization. PPT or DPN (estrogen receptor alpha and beta subtype selective ligands¹⁸⁶) supplementation could be used to investigate which estrogen receptor contributes to macrophage polarization, and in what way. After not finding estrogen effects - which could be protective in EAM disease progress - on female murine BMM polarization, the focus of further research should be on the effects of testosterone on male macrophage polarization in particular. Such research is important because testosterone is known to negatively affect inflammatory heart disease. ⁴⁹ This study only tried two different treatment protocols to produce macrophage subspecies: M1/pro-inflammatory (LPS) and M2/tissue repairing (IL-4/IL-13). The M2 immune-regulatory subtype, described above, would also be a suitable target for estrogen co-stimulation experiments. In addition to differences in the immune response, it should also be noted that the tissue of the heart itself and its reaction to harmful triggers are likely responsible for sex differences in the EAM model. As stated above, Regitz-Zagrosek et al. showed that estrogen benefits a cardio-protective tissue response in female individuals regarding cardiac tissue damage due to different triggers. ¹⁰⁰ There is evidence on the cellular level that this general cardio-protective tissue response towards stress in females is also mediated by estrogen, as the sex hormone was shown to be a direct regulator of fibroblast activation. ^{187,188} TNF-α, an important pro-fibrotic cytokine, was used to investigate fibroblast activation. ¹¹⁶ Activated fibroblasts increasingly expressed fibroblast activation markers such as MCP-1, and pro-fibrotic cytokines such as IL-1 β . ^{189–191} Following TNF- α treatment, isolated cardiac fibroblasts expressed these markers more strongly than untreated cells. This also connects macrophage polarization to fibrotic remodelling, as TNF- α is an important cytokine
in crosstalk between macrophages and fibroblasts.¹¹⁶ Subsequent experiments included the costimulation of fibroblasts with TNF- α and estrogen. As with the observations of the estrogen stimulation of murine BMMs, estrogen treatment did not affect female cells. Interestingly, male fibroblasts reacted to additional estrogen treatment during TNF-a activation with a decreased expression of fibroblast activation marker MCP-1 and autocrine-acting pro-fibrotic cytokine IL-1 β , suggesting the anti-fibrotic direct effects of estrogen on male fibroblasts. Other studies have reported a similar effect and postulated the cardio-protective effect of estrogen in male and female cells. ¹⁹² The lack of estrogen effects on female cells in this study could again be explained by the fact that female cells were under long-term estrogen influence for a long period while still being part of the host's body. It is possible that longer estrogen treatment would also show effects in female fibroblast activation. Macrophages were described as important regulators of fibrotic remodelling and tissue repair. 73,193 Several cytokines from the macrophages' cytokine arsenal mediate this cell-cell interaction, with macrophages as regulators of fibroblasts. Of these pro-fibrotic cytokines secreted by macrophages, IL-1 β , TGF- β , and TNF- α are important. ^{73,194,195} Supporting the idea of different subspecies of macrophages, ¹²⁸ it was observed that different macrophage subtypes can promote fibroblast activation or inhibit it. ¹⁸³ To investigate sex differences in macrophage-related fibroblast activation, co-culture experiments with both cell types were established. Macrophageconditioned cell culture medium (conditioned by male and female as well as differently polarized macrophage subtypes) was used to activate fibroblasts. In addition, the effects of estrogen on the macrophage-related conditioning of the cell culture medium were investigated. The analysis of fibroblasts treated with conditioned medium from LPS-treated macrophages showed that this medium could activate the isolated murine cardiac fibroblasts. The treated cells increasingly expressed fibroblast activation markers such as MCP-1, the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-1 β , and the pro-inflammatory transcription factor NF κ B. Furthermore, a sex bias for the fibroblast activation by female and male LPS-treated, macrophageconditioned medium was found. Male fibroblasts treated with male murine BMM-conditioned (LPS-activated) medium expressed fibroblast activation marker MCP-1 more strongly than female ones. A stronger expression was also observed for the pro-fibrotic and pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1ß and TNF-a. The medium conditioned by IL-4- and IL-13-activated macrophages also activated fibroblasts, emphasizing that this subtype of macrophages plays a crucial role in tissue repair and wound-healing.⁷³ Finally, the effect of estrogen on the fibroblast activation following this indirect cell-cell interaction was investigated. However, the estrogen treatment of both LPS- or IL-4- and IL-13-treated macrophages showed no difference in the capability of macrophage-conditioned medium to activate isolated murine cardiac fibroblasts.

9.1 The need for subsequent experiments

The findings that male macrophages react to treatment protocols with stronger polarization into M1 and M2 (tissue repair) subtypes are interesting in view of the fact that macrophages are key regulators of fibrotic remodelling.¹⁸³ It was shown that male murine M1 macrophages react with stronger pro-inflammatory polarization, and also that medium conditioned by this subtype activates treated fibroblasts of the same sex more strongly when compared to female murine BMM-conditioned medium. These are intriguing results given that macrophages are key cells in regulating fibrosis and the fibrotic remodelling of the heart. ¹⁵³ Subsequent studies could include further analysis of cytokine patterns in macrophage-conditioned medium using ELISA analysis. In addition to macrophages, this study also focused on sex differences and estrogen effects on fibroblast activation. Successful activation of isolated murine cardiac fibroblasts was achieved by stimulation with TNF- α , which is known to be a fibroblast-activating cytokine. 191,196 TNF- α is a signature cytokine of the M1 spectrum and is known to be pro-fibrotic. 116 Higher expression of TNF- α in LPS-treated male macrophages was observed in this study, making it a suitable target for further analysis of sex differences in fibroblast activation. TNFa treatment of fibroblasts showed increased expression of MCP-1 as a marker of fibroblast activation.¹⁹⁷ Interestingly, MCP-1 is a key cytokine for stimulating macrophages and monocytes to migrate to the place of highest concentration of MCP-1 (place of secretion).¹⁹⁸ This emphasizes that the cell-cell interaction of macrophages and fibroblasts is not unidirectional; rather, macrophages are additionally influenced by fibroblasts. Further studies could include cell culture experiments that investigate sex differences in chemotaxis as well as the cell migration of differently stimulated macrophages and fibroblasts (e.g., by using MCP-1 stimulation of macrophages). TNF- α -treated fibroblasts showed sex differences regarding the expression of pro-fibrotic cytokines IL-1β and TGF-β. Male fibroblast expression of these cytokines was more increased after stimulation, suggesting both that male murine macrophages react with stronger M1 polarization to LPS treatment and that male fibroblasts also react with stronger pro-fibrotic signalling to macrophage-derived TNF-α. Similarly to the observations of the estrogen treatment of female macrophages, female fibroblasts did not react differently to co-stimulation with estrogen during TNF- α activation. In summary, sex differences in macrophage polarization and macrophage-related fibroblast activation were found. These are likely to be a contributing factor to the faster and stronger progress of EAM in male rodents compared to female ones. However, no effects of estrogen on female murine BMM polarization and their capability to activate fibroblasts were found. The next step would be to connect findings in the animal model and cell culture experiments to human biology. Warraich et al. demonstrated that high autoantibody levels against myosin correlate with clinically suspected myocarditis and DCM. Antibody levels correlated with the reduced ejection fraction of patients; ¹¹⁴ however, this must be confirmed for the EAM model. Cell culture experiments should be repeated with human cell lines that resemble macrophages or fibroblasts. The analysis of samples from myocarditis patients could also transfer knowledge from animal models and cell culture to human pathology. It would be interesting to analyze heart biopsies and cellular myocardial infiltrates. Analysis could include sex differences in inflammation and fibrosis with a special focus on distinct macrophage subspecies in myocardial infiltrates. In addition, future studies could measure estrogen and testosterone levels in patients, and compare these levels with markers of detrimental disease progress, such as the ejection fraction of patients. Macrophage subspecies could also be analyzed in PBMCs. These cells from healthy subjects could also be analyzed in cell culture experiments by treating them according to the treatment protocols for murine BMMs used in this study.

Regarding estrogen effects on macrophage polarization, this study only showed effects on male cells (male cells reacted with an increased expression of pro-inflammatory markers in LPS costimulation experiments). It is likely that the protocol needs to be optimized. As mentioned above, it is difficult to show estrogen effects on female cells because true estrogen deprivation requires time. Before the experiments, the female cells were part of the female murine host body and thus had a strong estrogen influence before being used for polarization experiments (in contrast to male murine cells). This could be overcome by treating the cells for a period of 48 or 72 hours, rather than only 24 hours.

9.2 Translational science – future therapeutic attempts

Macrophage polarization⁷³ has been found to be important for the modulation of several pathological tissue states, such as in cancer, ¹⁹⁹ the formation of insulin resistance due to obesity, ²⁰⁰ cardiac remodelling, ¹⁵⁶ and in several fibrotic diseases. ^{116,183} This study attempted to investigate the role of macrophage polarization in a specific form of myocarditis. It may be valuable for future research to influence the polarization of macrophage infiltrates into tissue restitution-supporting subtypes. In the case of ongoing, unregulated inflammation and fibrotic remodelling, this could be the regulatory M2 subtype Mosser and Edwards described, which downregulates the local immune response, and is thus anti-fibrotic. ¹¹⁶ However, the fact that

macrophages are highly important regulator cells in numerous organs as well as in physiological and pathological tissue states makes it difficult to find a specific treatment. The signature cytokine of regulatory macrophages is IL-10. Interestingly, IL-10 was also demonstrated to be anti-fibrotic in several animal fibrosis models. ²⁰¹⁻²⁰³ However, treatment with recombinant IL-10 is still not implemented in everyday medicine, as the treatment effects have not met the initial high expectations. ^{204,205} Severe side effects often result from trying to modify the immune system by using cytokines or antibodies against distinct cytokines. The inhibition of IL-1 β , which was also an important pro-fibrotic target in this study, showed a significant reduction in the reoccurrence of clinical manifestations of atherosclerosis, but it also led to an increased incidence of severe infections. ²⁰⁶ When boosting the inhibitory arm of the immune system, an increase of cancer manifestations is a general side effect that should be expected, as well. ²⁰⁷ Thus, a suitable treatment should be heart-specific. Harel-Adar and colleagues demonstrated a promising way of doing this with intravenous injections of phosphatidylserine (PS)-presenting liposomes, mimicking the anti-inflammatory effects of apoptotic cells in the heart. This led to a population of macrophages that supported heart tissue restitution after myocardial infarction of animals. This macrophage population was characterized by high levels of IL-10 and TGF- β as well as low expression of the pro-inflammatory marker TNF- α . ²⁰⁸ Some progress has been made in the field of antiviral treatment. Interferon β , an antiviral cytokine, has been in clinical use for some time, but is reserved for special cases. ²⁰⁹ However, one problem with these antiviral therapeutic approaches is that the trigger of cardiac inflammation (e.g., cardiotropic viruses) only exists in the host's body for a short period of time. ⁹⁴ During this period, the disease usually does not present the severe symptoms that justify further diagnostics to introduce a specialized treatment. ²⁰⁹ Thus, a treatment for patients suffering from ongoing inflammation and fibrotic remodelling in a post-viral state of the disease would still be needed. Patients with the formation of cardiac antibodies are an interesting group for specialized treatment. Recently, immunosorbent procedures came to the attention of clinical users. The removal of cardiac autoantibodies seems to have a positive effect on disease outcomes.²¹⁰ Regarding the focus of this study, it should be questioned whether female DCM patients could benefit from estrogen treatment, or male patients from antiandrogen treatment. However, this study did not find a consistent role of estrogen effects in myocarditis pathomechanisms regarding in vitro macrophage polarization experiments. Furthermore, the role of sex hormones and sex differences of the human immune system is still only understood vaguely. ^{54,211} Again, it must be noted that the hormonal treatment of patients leads to systemic treatment effects, but also to systemic side effects.

10 List of literature

- Fung G, Luo H, Qiu Y, Yang D, McManus B. Myocarditis. *Circ Res.* 2016;118(3):496-514. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306573
- Alida L P Caforio, Sabine Pankuweit, Eloisa Arbustini, Cristina Basso, Juan Gimeno-Blanes, Stephan B Felix, Michael Fu, Tiina Heliö, Stephane Heymans, Roland Jahns, Karin Klingel, Ales Linhart, Bernhard Maisch, William McKenna, Jens Mogensen, Yigal M Pinto, Arsen Ristic, Heinz-Peter Schultheiss, Hubert Seggewiss, Luigi Tavazzi, Gaetano Thiene, Ali Yilmaz, Philippe Charron, Perry M ElliottCurrent state of knowledge on aetiology , diagnosis , management , and therapy of myocarditis : a position statement of the European Society of Cardiology Working Group on Myocardial and Pericardial Diseases. 2013;39:2636-2648. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/eht210
- Ingrid Kindermann, Christine Barth, Felix Mahfoud, Christian Ukena, Matthias Lenski, Ali Yilmaz, Karin Klingel, Reinhard Kandolf, Udo Sechtem, Leslie T Cooper, Michael BöhmUpdate on myocarditis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.09.074
- Kothe K, Ihle R, Romaniuk P, Stobbe H, Wagenknecht C.
 [Anthracyclin-cardiomyopathy (author's transl)]. *Arch Geschwulstforsch.* 1982.
- Alida L P Caforio 1, Francesco Tona, Stefania Bottaro, Annalisa Vinci, Greta Dequal, Luciano Daliento, Gaetano Thiene, Sabino Iliceto Clinical implications of anti-heart autoantibodies in myocarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy. *Autoimmunity*. 2008. doi:10.1080/08916930701619235
- Fairweather D, Cooper Jr LT, Blauwet LA.
 Sex and Gender Differences in Myocarditis and Dilated Cardiomyopathy. *Curr Probl Cardiol.* 2013. doi:10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2012.07.003
- Neu N, Rose NR, Beisel KW, Herskowitz A, Gurri-Glass G, Craig SW.
 Cardiac myosin induces myocarditis in genetically predisposed mice. *J Immunol*. 1987. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.8234
- Myers JM, Fairweather DL, Huber SA, Cunningham MW.
 Autoimmune myocarditis, valvulitis, and cardiomyopathy. *Curr Protoc Immunol*. 2013. doi:10.1002/0471142735.im1514s101
- Klingel K, Sauter M, Bock CT, Szalay G, Schnorr JJ, Kandolf R. Molecular pathology of inflammatory cardiomyopathy. *Med Microbiol Immunol*. 2004. doi:10.1007/s00430-003-0190-1

- Pollack A, Kontorovich AR, Fuster V, Dec GW.
 Viral myocarditis-diagnosis, treatment options, and current controversies. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2015. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2015.108
- Fabre A, Sheppard MN.
 Sudden adult death syndrome and other non-ischaemic causes of sudden cardiac death.
 Heart. 2006. doi:10.1136/hrt.2004.045518
- Kaj Ekström, Jukka Lehtonen, Riina Kandolin, Anne Räisänen-Sokolowski, Kaisa Salmenkivi, Markku Kupari Long-term outcome and its predictors in giant cell myocarditis. *Eur J Heart Fail*. 2016. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ejhf.606
- 13. Cooper. Molecular biologic detection of virus infection in myocarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy. *Totowa Humana Press*. 2002.
- L H Chow, K W Beisel, B M McManus Enteroviral infection of mice with severe combined immunodeficiency. Evidence for direct viral pathogenesis of myocardial injury. *Lab Invest.* 1992.
- 15. Carlos Gorbea , Kimberly A Makar, Matthias Pauschinger, Gregory Pratt, Jeathrina L F Bersola, Jacquelin Varela, Ryan M David, Lori Banks, Chien-Hua Huang, Hua Li, Heinz-Peter Schultheiss, Jeffrey A Towbin, Jesús G Vallejo, Neil E Bowles A role for toll-like receptor 3 variants in host susceptibility to enteroviral myocarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy. *J Biol Chem.* 2010. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.047464
- Eric D. Abston, Michael J. Coronado, Adriana Bucek, Jennifer A. Onyimba, Jessica E. Brandt, J. Augusto Frisancho, Eunyong Kim, Djahida Bedja, Yoon Kyu Sung, Andrea J. Radtke, Kathleen L. Gabrielson, Wayne Mitzner, De Lisa Fairweather TLR3 deficiency induces chronic inflammatory cardiomyopathy in resistant mice following coxsackievirus B3 infection: role for IL-4. *AJP Regul Integr Comp Physiol*. 2013. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00516.2011
- 17. DeLisa Fairweather, Susan Yusung, Sylvia Frisancho, Masheka Barrett, Shannon Gatewood, Ronelle Steele, Noel R Rose
 IL-12 Receptor 1 and Toll-Like Receptor 4 Increase IL-1 and IL-18-Associated Myocarditis and Coxsackievirus Replication. *J Immunol*. 2003. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.9.4731
- Aoshi T, Koyama S, Kobiyama K, Akira S, Ishii KJ.
 Innate and adaptive immune responses to viral infection and vaccination. *Curr Opin Virol.* 2011. doi:10.1016/j.coviro.2011.07.002

- Esfandiarei M, McManus BM.
 Molecular biology and pathogenesis of viral myocarditis. *Annu Rev Pathol*. 2008. doi:10.1146/annurev.pathmechdis.3.121806.151534
- 20. Yu M, Levine SJ.

Toll-like receptor 3, RIG-I-like receptors and the NLRP3 inflammasome: Key modulators of innate immune responses to double-stranded RNA viruses. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 2011. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.02.001

- N R Rose, L J Wolfgram, A Herskowitz, K W BeiselPostinfectious Autoimmunity: Two Distinct Phases of Coxsackievirus B3-Induced Myocarditis. *Ann* NY Acad Sci. 1986. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1986.tb20864.x
- Neu N, Rose NR, Beisel KW, Herskowitz a, Gurri-Glass G, Craig SW.
 Cardiac myosin induces myocarditis in genetically predisposed mice. *J Immunol*.
 1987. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.8234
- Lauer B, Schannwell M, Kühl U, Strauer BE, Schultheiss HP.
 Antimyosin autoantibodies are associated with deterioration of systolic and diastolic left ventricular function in patients with chronic myocarditis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2000. doi:10.1016/S0735-1097(99)00485-4
- Caforio ALP, Mahon NJ, McKenna WJ.
 Cardiac autoantibodies to myosin and other heart-specific autoantigens in myocarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy. *Autoimmunity*. 2001. doi:10.3109/08916930109007385
- 25. Caforio ALP, Mahon NJ, Tona F, McKenna WJ.
 Circulating cardiac autoantibodies in dilated cardiomyopathy and myocarditis:
 Pathogenetic and clinical significance. *Eur J Heart Fail*. 2002. doi:10.1016/S1388-9842(02)00010-7
- Wallukat G, Schimke I.
 Agonistic autoantibodies directed against G-protein-coupled receptors and their relationship to cardiovascular diseases. *Semin Immunopathol.* 2014. doi:10.1007/s00281-014-0425-9

 Rose NR.
 Learning from myocarditis: mimicry, chaos and black holes. *F1000Prime Rep*. 2014. doi:10.12703/P6-25

28. Schwimmbeck PL, Bigalke B, Schulze K, Pauschinger M, Kühl U, Schultheiss HP. The humoral immune response in viral heart disease: Characterization and pathophysiological significance of antibodies. *Med Microbiol Immunol*. 2004. doi:10.1007/s00430-003-0217-7

- 29. Deutzmann JRKHRNR. Duale Reihe Biochemie.
- Zhao W, Wegmann KW, Trotter JL, Ueno K, Hickey WF.
 Identification of an N-terminally acetylated encephalitogenic epitope in myelin proteolipid apoprotein for the Lewis rat. *J Immunol*. 1994.
- Smith SC, Allen PM.
 Expression of myosin-class II major histocompatibility complexes in the normal myocardium occurs before induction of autoimmune myocarditis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1992. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.19.9131
- 32. Penninger, Neu B.A genetic map of autoimmune heart disease. *Immunologist*. 1996.
- 33. Sylvia Frisancho-Kiss, Jennifer F Nyland, Sarah E Davis, Masheka A Barrett, Shannon J L Gatewood, Dolores B Njoku, Daniela Cihakova, Ellen K Silbergeld, Noel R Rose, DeLisa Fairweather

T Cell Ig Mucin-3 Reduces Inflammatory Heart Disease by Increasing CTLA-4 during Innate Immunity. *J Immunol*. 2006. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.11.6411

- Bracamonte-Baran W, Čiháková D
 Cardiac autoimmunity: Myocarditis. In: *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*. ; 2017. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-57613-8_10
- 35. Cihakova D, Rose NR
 Chapter 4 Pathogenesis of Myocarditis and Dilated Cardiomyopathy. *Adv Immunol.*2008. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(08)00604-4
- Barin JG, Čiháková D
 Control of inflammatory heart disease by CD4+T cells. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2013. doi:10.1111/nyas.12134
- Hufnagel G, Pankuweit S, Richter a, Schönian U, Maisch B The European Study of Epidemiology and Treatment of Cardiac Inflammatory Diseases (ESETCID). First epidemiological results. *Herz*. 2000. doi:10.1007/s000590050021
- Herold G
 Innere Medizin.; 2016. doi:10.1024/1661-8157.96.11.411
- 39. Schultheiss HP, Khl U, Cooper LT
 The management of myocarditis. *Eur Heart J.* 2011. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehr165
- 40. Piotr Ponikowski, Adriaan A Voors, Stefan D Anker, Héctor Bueno, John G F Cleland,

Andrew J S Coats, Volkmar Falk, José Ramón González-Juanatey, Veli-Pekka Harjola, Ewa A Jankowska, Mariell Jessup, Cecilia Linde, Petros Nihoyannopoulos, John T Parissis, Burkert Pieske, Jillian P Riley, Giuseppe M C Rosano, Luis M Ruilope, Frank Ruschitzka, Frans H Rutten, Peter van der Meer, ESC Scientific Document Group 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. *Eur Heart J*. 2016. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehw128

- R E McCarthy 3rd 1, J P Boehmer, R H Hruban, G M Hutchins, E K Kasper, J M Hare, K L Baughman
 Long-Term Outcome of Fulminant Myocarditis as Compared with Acute (Nonfulminant) Myocarditis. *N Engl J Med.* 2000.
 doi:10.1056/NEJM200003093421003
- 42. Cooper LT, Berry GJ, Shabetai R
 Idiopathic Giant-Cell Myocarditis Natural History and Treatment. *N Engl J Med*.
 1997. doi:10.1056/NEJM199706263362603
- 43. Cooper LT
 Giant Cell and Granulomatous Myocarditis. *Heart Fail Clin*. 2005.
 doi:10.1016/j.hfc.2005.06.004
- EUGenMed Cardiovascular Clinical Study Group; Vera Regitz-Zagrosek, Sabine Oertelt-Prigione, Eva Prescott, Flavia Franconi, Eva Gerdts, Anna Foryst-Ludwig, Angela H E M Maas, Alexandra Kautzky-Willer, Dorit Knappe-Wegner, Ulrich Kintscher, Karl Heinz Ladwig, Karin Schenck-Gustafsson, Verena Stangl Gender in cardiovascular diseases: impact on clinical manifestations, management, and outcomes. *Eur Heart J.* 2016. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv598
- 45. Regitz-Zagrosek V, Oertelt-Prigione S, Seeland U, Hetzer R.
 Sex and gender differences in myocardial hypertrophy and heart failure. *Circ J*. 2010. doi:10.1253/circj.CJ-10-0196
- 46. Dennis M McNamara, Randall C Starling, Leslie T Cooper, John P Boehmer, Paul J Mather, Karen M Janosko, John Gorcsan 3rd, Kevin E Kip, G William Dec, IMAC Investigators

Clinical and demographic predictors of outcomes in recent onset dilated cardiomyopathy: Results of the IMAC (intervention in myocarditis and acute cardiomyopathy)-2 study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2011. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.05.033

47. J.G.F Cleland, K Swedberg, F Follath, M Komajda, A Cohen-Solal, J.C Aguilar, R Dietz, A Gavazzi, R Hobbs, J Korewicki, H.C Madeira, V.S Moiseyev, I Preda, W.H van Gilst, J Widimsky, N Freemantle, Joanne Eastaugh, J Mason for the Study Group on Diagnosis of the Working Group on Heart Failure of the European Society of Cardiology

The EuroHeart Failure survey programme - A survey on the quality of care among patients with heart failure in Europe. Part 1: Patient characteristics and diagnosis. *Eur Heart J*. 2003. doi:10.1016/S0195-668X(02)00823-0

- 48. Andreas Luchner 1, Ulrich Bröckel, Michael Muscholl, Hans-Werner Hense, Angela Döring, Günter A J Riegger, Heribert Schunkert
 Gender-specific differences of cardiac remodeling in subjects with left ventricular dysfunction: A population-based study. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2002. doi:10.1016/S0008-6363(01)00510-7
- 49. Fairweather D, Cooper LT, Blauwet LA.
 Sex and Gender Differences in Myocarditis and Dilated Cardiomyopathy. *Curr Probl Cardiol.* 2013. doi:10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2012.07.003
- 50. Alida L P Caforio 1, Fiorella Calabrese, Annalisa Angelini, Francesco Tona, Annalisa Vinci, Stefania Bottaro, Angelo Ramondo, Elisa Carturan, Sabino Iliceto, Gaetano Thiene, Luciano Daliento

A prospective study of biopsy-proven myocarditis: Prognostic relevance of clinical and aetiopathogenetic features at diagnosis. *Eur Heart J*. 2007. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehm076

- Magnani JW, Suk Danik HJ, Dec GW, DiSalvo TG.
 Survival in biopsy-proven myocarditis: A long-term retrospective analysis of the histopathologic, clinical, and hemodynamic predictors. *Am Heart J.* 2006. doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2005.03.037
- 52. Jacobson DL, Gange SJ, Rose NR, Graham NMH. Epidemiology and estimated population burden of selected autoimmune diseases in the United States. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol*. 1997. doi:10.1006/clin.1997.4412
- 53. Dooley H.

Environmental epidemiology and risk factors for autoimmune disease. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2003.

- 54. Gleicher N, Barad DH.
 Gender as risk factor for autoimmune diseases. *J Autoimmun*. 2007. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2006.12.004
- 55. Whitacre CC.

Sex differences in autoimmune disease. Nat Immunol. 2001. doi:10.1038/ni0901-777

- 56. Fairweather D, Frisancho-Kiss S, Rose NR.
 Sex differences in autoimmune disease from a pathological perspective. *Am J Pathol.* 2008. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2008.071008
- 57. Cooper GS, Stroehla BC.
 The epidemiology of autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2003. doi:10.1016/S1568-9972(03)00006-5
- Noel R. Rose IRM.
 The Autoimmune Diseases.; 2006.
- 59. Cotran R, Kumar V, Robbins S, Abbas AK, Aster JC, Aster JC. *Robbins and Cotran Pathologic Basis of Disease.*; 2015.
- 60. J A Girón-González, F J Moral, J Elvira, D García-Gil, F Guerrero, I Gavilán, L Escobar

Consistent production of a higher T(H)1:T(H)2 cytokine ratio by stimulated T cells in men compared with women. *Eur J Endocrinol*. 2000. doi:10.1530/eje.0.1430031

61. Klein SL.

The effects of hormones on sex differences in infection: From genes to behavior. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2000. doi:10.1016/S0149-7634(00)00027-0

62. Lang TJ.

Estrogen as an immunomodulator. *Clin Immunol*. 2004. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2004.05.011

63. Straub RH.

The complex role of estrogens in inflammation. *Endocr Rev.* 2007. doi:10.1210/er.2007-0001

- 64. Boron WF, Boulpaep EL.*Medical Physiology.*; 2012. doi:10.1136/pgmj.51.599.683-c
- 65. Wilder RL.

Neuroendocrine-Immune System Interactions and Autoimmunity. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 1995. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.13.040195.001515

- 66. Kublickiene K, Luksha L.Gender and the endothelium. In: *Pharmacological Reports*. ; 2008.
- Piro M, Della Bona R, Abbate A, Biasucci LM, Crea F.
 Sex-Related Differences in Myocardial Remodeling. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2010. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2009.09.065

68. Nina Heldring, Ashley Pike, Sandra Andersson, Jason Matthews, Guojun Cheng, Johan Hartman, Michel Tujague, Anders Ström, Eckardt Treuter, Margaret Warner, Jan-Ake Gustafsson

Estrogen Receptors: How Do They Signal and What Are Their Targets. *Physiol Rev*. 2007. doi:10.1152/physrev.00026.2006

- 69. Sylvia Frisancho-Kiss, Sarah E Davis, Jennifer F Nyland, J Augusto Frisancho, Daniela Cihakova, Masheka A Barrett, Noel R Rose, Delisa Fairweather Cutting Edge: Cross-Regulation by TLR4 and T cell Ig Mucin-3 Determines Sex Differences in Inflammatory Heart Disease. *J Immunol*. 2007. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.11.6710
- 70. Verthelyi D, Klinman DM.
 Sex hormone levels correlate with the activity of cytokine-secreting cells in vivo.
 Immunology. 2000. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.2000.00047.x
- 71. Karpuzoglu-Sahin E, Hissong BD, Ansar Ahmed S.
 Interferon-gamma levels are upregulated by 17-beta-estradiol and diethylstilbestrol. J Reprod Immunol. 2001.
- Filomena O Dimayuga, Janelle L Reed, Genevieve A Carnero, Chunmei Wang, Edgardo R Dimayuga, Vanessa M Dimayuga, Andrea Perger, Melinda E Wilson, Jeffrey N Keller, Annadora J Bruce-Keller Estrogen and brain inflammation: Effects on microglial expression of MHC, costimulatory molecules and cytokines. *J Neuroimmunol*. 2005. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.12.016
- 73. Mosser DM, Edwards JP.
 Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nat Publ Gr.* 2008;8. doi:10.1038/nri2448
- Fvans MJ, Eckert A, Lai K, Adelman SJ, Harnish DC.
 Reciprocal antagonism between estrogen receptor and NF-kappaB activity in vivo. *Circ Res.* 2001. doi:10.1161/hh2101.098543
- 75. Svitlana Demyanets , Stefan Pfaffenberger, Christoph Kaun, Gersina Rega, Walter S Speidl, Stefan P Kastl, Thomas W Weiss, Philipp J Hohensinner, Wolf Dietrich, Walter Tschugguel, Valery N Bochkov, Ezzat M Awad, Gerald Maurer, Kurt Huber, Johann Wojta

The estrogen metabolite 17β -dihydroequilenin counteracts interleukin- 1α induced expression of inflammatory mediators in human endothelial cells in vitro via NF- κ B

pathway. Thromb Haemost. 2006. doi:10.1160/TH05-05-0333

- Xiaobo Wang, Karine Belguise, Nathalie Kersual, Kathrin H Kirsch, Nora D Mineva, Florence Galtier, Dany Chalbos, Gail E Sonenshein
 Oestrogen signalling inhibits invasive phenotype by repressing RelB and its target
 BCL2. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2007. doi:10.1038/ncb1559
- Feldman I, Feldman GM, Mobarak C, Dunkelberg JC, Leslie KK.
 Identification of proteins within the nuclear factor-kappa B transcriptional complex including estrogen receptor-alpha. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2007. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2006.12.033
- Liu H, Loo KK, Palaszynski K, Ashouri J, Lubahn DB, Voskuhl RR. Estrogen receptor alpha mediates estrogen's immune protection in autoimmune disease. *J Immunol*. 2003.
- 79. Gharaee-Kermani M, Hatano K, Nozaki Y, Phan SH.
 Gender-based differences in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. *Am J Pathol.*2005. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62470-4
- Sylvia Frisancho-Kiss, Jennifer F Nyland, Sarah E Davis, J Augusto Frisancho, Masheka A Barrett, Noel R Rose, DeLisa Fairweather Sex differences in coxsackievirus B3-induced myocarditis: IL-12Rβ1 signaling and IFN-γ increase inflammation in males independent from STAT4. *Brain Res.* 2006. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2006.08.003
- Giltay EJ, Fonk JC, von Blomberg BM, Drexhage HA, Schalkwijk C, Gooren LJ. In vivo effects of sex steroids on lymphocyte responsiveness and immunoglobulin levels in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2000. doi:10.1210/jcem.85.4.6562
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL.
 Sex differences in immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2016. doi:10.1038/nri.2016.90
- Loria RM. Immune up-regulation and tumor apoptosis by androstene steroids. *Steroids*. 2002. doi:10.1016/S0039-128X(02)00043-0
- 84. Ciháková D, Sharma RB, Fairweather D, Afanasyeva M, Rose NR.
 Animal models for autoimmune myocarditis and autoimmune thyroiditis. *Methods Mol Med.* 2004. doi:10.1385/1-59259-805-6:175
- 85. Michael J Coronado, Jessica E Brandt, Eunyong Kim, Adriana Bucek, Djahida Bedja, Eric D Abston, Jaewook Shin, Kathleen L Gabrielson, Wayne Mitzner, DeLisa Fairweather

Testosterone and interleukin-1 increase cardiac remodeling during coxsackievirus B3

myocarditis via serpin A 3n. *AJP Hear Circ Physiol*. 2012. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00783.2011

86. Huber SA.

Coxsackievirus B3-induced myocarditis: Infection of females during the estrus phase of the ovarian cycle leads to activation of T regulatory cells. *Virology*. 2008. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2008.05.015

- 87. Sylvia Frisancho-Kiss, Michael J Coronado, J Augusto Frisancho, Vivian M Lau, Noel R Rose, Sabra L Klein, DeLisa Fairweather Gonadectomy of male BALB/c mice increases Tim-3+alternatively activated M2 macrophages, Tim-3+T cells, Th2 cells and Treg in the heart during acute coxsackievirus-induced myocarditis. *Brain Behav Immun*. 2009. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2008.12.002
- Huber SA, Kupperman J, Newell MK.
 Estradiol prevents and testosterone promotes Fas-dependent apoptosis in CD4+ Th2 cells by altering Bcl 2 expression. *Lupus*. 1999. doi:10.1177/096120339900800511
- 89. Dionne P Robinson, Sally A Huber, Mohamad Moussawi, Brian Roberts, Cory Teuscher, Rebecca Watkins, Arthur P Arnold, Sabra L Klein Sex chromosome complement contributes to sex differences in coxsackievirus B3 but not influenza A virus pathogenesis. *Biol Sex Differ*. 2011. doi:10.1186/2042-6410-2-8
- 90. Kang Li , Wei Xu, Qiang Guo, Zhenggang Jiang, Ping Wang, Yan Yue, Sidong Xiong Differential macrophage polarization in male and female BALB/c mice infected with coxsackievirus B3 defines susceptibility to viral myocarditis. *Circ Res.* 2009. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.195230
- 91. DeLisa Fairweather, Sylvia Frisancho-Kiss, Susy A. Yusung, Masheka A. Barrett, Sarah E. Davis, Shannon J.L. Gatewood, Dolores B. Njoku, and Noel R. Rose Interferon-gamma protects against chronic viral myocarditis by reducing mast cell degranulation, fibrosis, and the profibrotic cytokines transforming growth factor-beta 1, interleukin-1 beta, and interleukin-4 in the heart. *Am J Pathol.* 2004. doi:S0002-9440(10)63241-5 [pii]
- 92. DeLisa Fairweather, Sylvia Frisancho-Kiss, Susy A. Yusung, Masheka A. Barrett, Sarah E. Davis, Ronelle A. Steele, Shannon J. L. Gatewood and Noel R. Rose IL-12 Protects against Coxsackievirus B3-Induced Myocarditis by Increasing IFN- and Macrophage and Neutrophil Populations in the Heart. *J Immunol*. 2005. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.1.261

- 93. Eric D Abston, Michael J Coronado, Adriana Bucek, Djahida Bedja, Jaewook Shin, Joseph B Kim, Eunyong Kim, Kathleen L Gabrielson, Dimitrios Georgakopoulos, Wayne Mitzner, DeLisa Fairweather
 Th2 regulation of viral myocarditis in mice: Different roles for TLR3 versus TRIF in progression to chronic disease. *Clin Dev Immunol.* 2012. doi:10.1155/2012/129486
- 94. Fairweather DL, Rose NR.
 Coxsackievirus-induced myocarditis in mice: A model of autoimmune disease for studying immunotoxicity. *Methods*. 2007. doi:10.1016/j.ymeth.2006.07.009
- 95. Lee LV, Foody JM.Women and Heart Disease. *Cardiol Clin.* 2011. doi:10.1016/j.ccl.2010.11.002
- 96. Véronique L Roger, Alan S Go, Donald M Lloyd-Jones, Emelia J Benjamin, Jarett D Berry, William B Borden, Dawn M Bravata, Shifan Dai, Earl S Ford, Caroline S Fox, Heather J Fullerton, Cathleen Gillespie, Susan M Hailpern, John A Heit, Virginia J Howard, Brett M Kissela, Steven J Kittner, Daniel T Lackland, Judith H Lichtman, Lynda D Lisabeth, Diane M Makuc, Gregory M Marcus, Ariane Marelli, David B Matchar, Claudia S Moy, Dariush Mozaffarian, Michael E Mussolino, Graham Nichol, Nina P Paynter, Elsayed Z Soliman, Paul D Sorlie, Nona Sotoodehnia, Tanya N Turan, Salim S Virani, Nathan D Wong, Daniel Woo, Melanie B Turner Executive summary: Heart disease and stroke statistics-2012 update: A report from the American heart association. *Circulation*. 2012. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e3182456d46
- 97. G Olivetti, G Giordano, D Corradi, M Melissari, C Lagrasta, S R Gambert, P Anversa Gender differences and aging: effects on the human heart. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1995. doi:10.1016/0735-1097(95)00282-8
- 98. Ziad Mallat, Paul Fornes, Rémi Costagliola, Bruno Esposito, Joël Belmin, Dominique Lecomte, Alain Tedgui
 Age and gender effects on cardiomyocyte apoptosis in the normal human heart. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2001. doi:10.1016/j.mad.2005.01.001
- 99. Vitale C, Mendelsohn ME, Rosano GMC.
 Gender differences in the cardiovascular effect of sex hormones. *Nat Rev Cardiol*.
 2009. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2009.105
- Bader M. Cardiovascular Hormone Systems: From Molecular Mechanisms to Novel Therapeutic.; 2008.
- 101. Ortmann PD med. O.

S3 Leitlinie Hormontherapie in der Peri- und Postmenopause (HT). Leitlin der Dtsch Gesellschaft für Gynäkologie und Geburtshilfe. 2009.

- Henry M P Boardman, Louise Hartley, Anne Eisinga, Caroline Main, Marta Roqué i Figuls, Xavier Bonfill Cosp, Rafael Gabriel Sanchez, Beatrice Knight Hormone therapy for preventing cardiovascular disease in post-menopausal women. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD002229.pub4
- 103. Cocker MS, Abdel-Aty H, Strohm O, Friedrich MG. Age and gender effects on the extent of myocardial involvement in acute myocarditis: a cardiovascular magnetic resonance study. *Heart*. 2009. doi:10.1136/hrt.2008.164061
- 104. Georges E Haddad , Lori J Saunders, Seth D Crosby, Maria Carles, Federica del Monte, Kindra King, Michael R Bristow, Francis G Spinale, Thomas E Macgillivray, Marc J Semigran, G William Dec, Steven A Williams, Roger J Hajjar, Judith K Gwathmey

Human cardiac-specific cDNA array for idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy: sex-related differences. *Physiol Genomics*. 2008. doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.00265.2007

- 105. Asakura M, Kitakaze M.
 Global gene expression profiling in the failing myocardium. *Circ J*. 2009. doi:JST.JSTAGE/circj/CJ-09-0465 [pii]
- 106. Cavasin M a, Tao Z-Y, Yu A-L, Yang X-P. Testosterone enhances early cardiac remodeling after myocardial infarction, causing rupture and degrading cardiac function. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2006. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.01121.2005
- 107. Dec GW, Fuster V.
 Idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. *N Engl J Med.* 1994.
 doi:10.1056/NEJM199412083312307
- 108. J Agüero , J Navarro, M C Medina, L Almenar, M Chirivella, L Martínez-Dolz, J A Moro, I Sánchez-Lazaro, V Ortiz, R Raso, A Salvador Clinical Variables Associated With the Presence of Inflammatory Infiltrates in Patients With Dilated Cardiomyopathy Undergoing Heart Transplantation. *Transplant Proc.* 2008. doi:10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.09.010
- 109. Kenneth R. Boheler, Maria Volkova, Christopher Morrell, Rahul Garg, Yi Zhu, Kenneth Margulies, Anne-Marie Seymour, and Edward G. Lakatta Sex- and age-dependent human transcriptome variability: implications for chronic heart failure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2003. doi:10.1073/pnas.0436564100

- Shehzad Basaria, M.D., Andrea D. Coviello, M.D., Thomas G. Travison, Ph.D., Thomas W. Storer, Ph.D., Wildon R. Farwell, M.D., M.P.H., Alan M. Jette, Ph.D., Richard Eder, B.A., Sharon Tennstedt, Ph.D., Jagadish Ulloor, Ph.D., Anqi Zhang, Ph.D., Karen Choong, M.D., Kishore M. Lakshman, M.D., Norman A. Mazer, M.D., Ph.D., Renee Miciek, M.S., Joanne Krasnoff, Ph.D., Ayan Elmi, B.A., Philip E. Knapp, M.D., Brad Brooks, B.S., Erica Appleman, M.A., Sheetal Aggarwal, B.S., C.C.R.P., Geeta Bhasin, B.A., Leif Hede-Brierley, Ashmeet Bhatia, M.B., B.S., Lauren Collins, R.N.P., Nathan LeBrasseur, Ph.D., Louis D. Fiore, M.D., and Shalender Bhasin, M.D Adverse Events Associated with Testosterone Administration. *N Engl J Med*. 2010. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1000485
- 111. Kania G, Blyszczuk P, Eriksson U.
 Mechanisms of cardiac fibrosis in inflammatory heart disease. *Trends Cardiovasc Med*.
 2009. doi:10.1016/j.tcm.2010.02.005
- 112. Mamoru Satoh, Motoyuki Nakamura, Tomonari Akatsu, Junji Iwasaka, Yudai Shimoda, Ikuo Segawa, Katsuhiko Hiramori Toll-like receptor 4 is expressed with enteroviral replication in myocardium from patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Lab Invest*. 2004. doi:10.1038/labinvest.3700031
- 113. Mamoru Satoh , Motoyuki Nakamura, Tomonari Akatsu, Junji Iwasaka, Yudai Shimoda, Ikuo Segawa, Katsuhiko Hiramori Expression of Toll-like receptor 4 is associated with enteroviral replication in human myocarditis. *Clin Sci.* 2003. doi:10.1042/CS20020263
- 114. Warraich RS, Noutsias M, Kazak I, Seeberg B, Dunn MJ, Schultheiss HP, Yacoub MH, Kuhl U

Immunoglobulin G3 cardiac myosin autoantibodies correlate with left ventricular dysfunction in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy: Immunoglobulin G3 and clinical correlates. *Am Heart J.* 2002. doi:10.1067/mhj.2002.124406

- 115. Epelman S, Liu PP, Mann DL.
 Role of innate and adaptive immune mechanisms in cardiac injury and repair. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2015. doi:10.1038/nri3800
- 116. Van Linthout S, Miteva K, Tschöpe C.
 Crosstalk between fibroblasts and inflammatory cells. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2014. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvu062
- 117. Amoah BP, Yang H, Zhang P, Su Z, Xu H.Immunopathogenesis of Myocarditis: The Interplay Between Cardiac Fibroblast Cells,

Dendritic Cells, Macrophages and CD4 ⁺ T Cells. *Scand J Immunol*. 2015. doi:10.1111/sji.12298

118. Gordon S, Martinez FO.

Alternative Activation of Macrophages: Mechanism and Functions. *Immunity*. 32:593-604. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.05.007

- 119. P'ng Loke, Iain Gallagher, Meera G Nair, Xingxing Zang, Frank Brombacher, Markus Mohrs, James P Allison, Judith E Allen Alternative activation is an innate response to injury that requires CD4+ T cells to be sustained during chronic infection. *J Immunol*. 2007. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.6.3926
- Barros MHM, Hauck F, Dreyer JH, Kempkes B, Niedobitek G.
 Macrophage polarisation: An immunohistochemical approach for identifying M1 and M2 macrophages. *PLoS One*. 2013. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0080908
- 121. Manabu Kinoshita 1, Takefumi Uchida, Atsushi Sato, Masahiro Nakashima, Hiroyuki Nakashima, Satoshi Shono, Yoshiko Habu, Hiromi Miyazaki, Sadayuki Hiroi, Shuhji Seki

Characterization of two F4/80-positive Kupffer cell subsets by their function and phenotype in mice. *J Hepatol*. 2010. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2010.04.037

122. Alan Valaperti, René R Marty, Gabriela Kania, Davide Germano, Nora Mauermann, Stefan Dirnhofer, Bernd Leimenstoll, Przemyslaw Blyszczuk, Chen Dong, Christian Mueller, Lukas Hunziker, Urs Eriksson CD11b+ Monocytes Abrogate Th17 CD4+ T Cell-Mediated Experimental

Autoimmune Myocarditis. J Immunol. 2008. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.4.2686

- Bianchi ME.
 DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2006. doi:10.1189/jlb.0306164
- 124. Zhang X, Mosser DM.
 Macrophage activation by endogenous danger signals. *J Pathol*. 2008. doi:10.1002/path.2284
- 125. Chen CJ, Kono H, Golenbock D, Reed G, Akira S, Rock KL. Identification of a key pathway required for the sterile inflammatory response triggered by dying cells. *Nat Med.* 2007. doi:10.1038/nm1603
- 126. Jong Sung Park, Daiva Svetkauskaite, Qianbin He, Jae-Yeol Kim, Derek Strassheim, Akitoshi Ishizaka, Edward Abraham Involvement of Toll-like Receptors 2 and 4 in Cellular Activation by High Mobility

Group Box 1 Protein. J Biol Chem. 2004. doi:10.1074/jbc.M306793200

- 127. Gordon S.Alternative activation of macrophages. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2003. doi:10.1038/nri978
- Martinez FO1, Sica A, Mantovani A LM.Macrophage activation and polarization. *Front Biosci.* 2008.
- Edwards JP, Zhang X, Frauwirth KA, Mosser DM.
 Biochemical and functional characterization of three activated macrophage populations. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2006. doi:10.1189/jlb.0406249
- 130. Zhang L, Wang CC.
 Inflammatory response of macrophages in infection. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int*.
 2014. doi:10.1016/s1499-3872(14)60024-2
- 131. O'Shea JJ, Murray PJ.
 Cytokine Signaling Modules in Inflammatory Responses. *Immunity*. 2008.
 doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.002
- 132. Dale DC, Boxer L, Conrad Liles W.The phagocytes: Neutrophils and monocytes. *Blood*. 2008. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-12-077917
- 133. Gordon S.

The macrophage: Past, present and future. *Eur J Immunol*. 2007. doi:10.1002/eji.200737638

134. Vladimir Toshchakov, Bryan W Jones, Pin-Yu Perera, Karen Thomas, M Joshua Cody, Shuling Zhang, Bryan R G Williams, Jennifer Major, Thomas A Hamilton, Matthew J Fenton, Stefanie N Vogel

TLR4, but not TLR2, mediates IFN-beta-induced STAT1alpha/beta-dependent gene expression in macrophages. *Nat Immunol.* 2002. doi:10.1038/ni774

- 135. Lawrence T, Natoli G.
 Transcriptional regulation of macrophage polarization: enabling diversity with identity.
 2011. doi:10.1038/nri3088
- 136. Martinez FO, Gordon S, Locati M, Mantovani A. Transcriptional Profiling of the Human Monocyte-to-Macrophage Differentiation and Polarization: New Molecules and Patterns of Gene Expression. *J Immunol*. 2006. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.7303
- 137. Bowdish DME.

Macrophage Activation and Polarization. In: Encyclopedia of Immunobiology.; 2016.

doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-374279-7.03002-2

- MacMicking J, Xie QW, Nathan C.
 Nitric oxide and macrophage function. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 1997. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.15.1.323
- 139. Martinez FO, Gordon S.The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. doi:10.12703/P6-13
- Foster SL, Hargreaves DC, Medzhitov R.
 Gene-specific control of inflammation by TLR-induced chromatin modifications.
 Nature. 2007. doi:10.1038/nature05836
- Biswas SK, Lopez-Collazo E.
 Endotoxin tolerance: new mechanisms, molecules and clinical significance. *Trends Immunol.* 2009. doi:10.1016/j.it.2009.07.009
- 142. A G Doyle, G Herbein, L J Montaner, A J Minty, D Caput, P Ferrara, S Gordon Interleukin-13 alters the activation state of murine macrophages in vitro: comparison with interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma. *Eur J Immunol*. 1994. doi:10.1002/eji.1830240630
- 143. Anca Sindrilaru, Thorsten Peters, Stefan Wieschalka, Corina Baican, Adrian Baican, Henriette Peter, Adelheid Hainzl, Susanne Schatz, Yu Qi, Andrea Schlecht, Johannes M. Weiss, Meinhard Wlaschek, Cord Sunderkötter, and Karin Scharffetter-Kochanek An unrestrained proinflammatory M1 macrophage population induced by iron impairs wound healing in humans and mice. J Clin Invest. 2011. doi:10.1172/JCI44490
- 144. Nutman TB.

Looking beyond the induction of Th2 responses to explain immunomodulation by helminths. *Parasite Immunol*. 2015. doi:10.1111/pim.12194

- 145. Tiffany A Reese, Hong-Erh Liang, Andrew M Tager, Andrew D Luster, Nico Van Rooijen, David Voehringer, Richard M Locksley Chitin induces accumulation in tissue of innate immune cells associated with allergy. *Nature*. 2007. doi:10.1038/nature05746
- 146. Kreider T, Anthony RM, Urban JF, Gause WC.
 Alternatively activated macrophages in helminth infections. *Curr Opin Immunol*. 2007. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2007.07.002
- 147. Raes G, Noël W, Beschin A, Brys L, De Baetselier P, Hassanzadeh GG.FIZZ1 and Ym as tools to discriminate between differentially activated macrophages.

In: Developmental Immunology.; 2002. doi:10.1080/1044667031000137629

- Bleau G, Massicotte F, Merlen Y, Boisvert C.
 Mammalian chitinase-like proteins. *EXS*. 1999.
- 149. Fabrizia Fusetti, Holger von Moeller, Douglas Houston, Henriette J Rozeboom, Bauke W Dijkstra, Rolf G Boot, Johannes M F G Aerts, Daan M F van Aalten Structure of human chitotriosidase: Implications for specific inhibitor design and function of mammalian chitinase-like lectins. *J Biol Chem.* 2002. doi:10.1074/jbc.M201636200
- 150. Kiyoshi Takeda, Takashi Tanaka, Wei Shi, Makoto Matsumoto, Masashi Minami, Shin-ichiro Kashiwamura, Kenji Nakanishi, Nobuaki Yoshida, Tadamitsu Kishimoto & Shizuo Akira

Essential role of Stat6 in IL-4 signalling. Nature. 1996. doi:10.1038/380627a0

- 151. Gerber JS, Mosser DM.
 Reversing Lipopolysaccharide Toxicity by Ligating the Macrophage Fc Receptors. J Immunol. 2001. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.11.6861
- 152. Bonner JC.

Regulation of PDGF and its receptors in fibrotic diseases. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 2004. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2004.03.006

153. T.Wynn LB.

Macrophages: Master regulators of inflammation and fibrosis. Semin Liver Dis. 2010.

- 154. Alexander R Pinto, Rosa Paolicelli, Ekaterina Salimova, Janko Gospocic, Esfir Slonimsky, Daniel Bilbao-Cortes, James W Godwin, Nadia A Rosenthal An abundant tissue macrophage population in the adult murine heart with a distinct alternatively-activated macrophage profile. *PLoS One*. 2012. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0036814
- 155. Matthias Nahrendorf, Filip K. Swirski, Elena Aikawa, Lars Stangenberg, Thomas Wurdinger, Jose-Luiz Figueiredo, Peter Libby, Ralph Weissleder and Mikael J. Pittet The healing myocardium sequentially mobilizes two monocyte subsets with divergent and complementary functions. J Exp Med. 2007. doi:10.1084/jem.20070885
- 156. Hulsmans M, Sam F, Nahrendorf M.
 Monocyte and macrophage contributions to cardiac remodeling. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*.
 2016. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015.11.015
- Daigo Hashimoto, Andrew Chow, Clara Noizat, Pearline Teo, Mary Beth Beasley, Marylene Leboeuf, Christian D Becker, Peter See, Jeremy Price, Daniel Lucas,

Melanie Greter, Arthur Mortha, Scott W Boyer, E Camilla Forsberg, Masato Tanaka, Nico van Rooijen, Adolfo García-Sastre, E Richard Stanley, Florent Ginhoux, Paul S Frenette, Miriam Merad

Tissue-resident macrophages self-maintain locally throughout adult life with minimal contribution from circulating monocytes. *Immunity*. 2013. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.004

158. Claudia Jakubzick, Emmanuel L Gautier, Sophie L Gibbings, Dorothy K Sojka, Andreas Schlitzer, Theodore E Johnson, Stoyan Ivanov, Qiaonan Duan, Shashi Bala, Tracy Condon, Nico van Rooijen, John R Grainger, Yasmine Belkaid, Avi Ma'ayan, David W H Riches, Wayne M Yokoyama, Florent Ginhoux, Peter M Henson, Gwendalyn J Randolph

Minimal differentiation of classical monocytes as they survey steady-state tissues and transport antigen to lymph nodes. *Immunity*. 2013. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.007

159. Slava Epelman, Kory J. Lavine, Anna E. Beaudin, Dorothy K. Sojka, Javier A. Carrero, Boris Calderon, Thaddeus Brija, Emmanuel L. Gautier, Stoyan Ivanov, Ansuman T. Satpathy, Joel D. Schilling, Reto Schwendener, Ismail Sergin, Babak Razani, E. Camilla Forsberg, Wayne Yokoyama, Emil R. Unanue, Marco Colonna, Gwendalyn J. Randolph, and Douglas L. Mann Embryonic and adult-derived resident cardiac macrophages are maintained through distinct mechanisms at steady state and during inflammation. *Immunity*. 2014.

doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.019

160. Oliver Dewald, Pawel Zymek, Kim Winkelmann, Anna Koerting, Guofeng Ren, Tareq Abou-Khamis, Lloyd H. Michael, Barrett J. Rollins, Mark L. Entman, and Nikolaos G. Frangogiannis

CCL2/monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 regulates inflammatory responses critical to healing myocardial infarcts. *Circ Res.* 2005.

doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000163017.13772.3a

- 161. Minako Ishibashi, Ken-ichi Hiasa, Qingwei Zhao, Shujiro Inoue, Kisho Ohtani, Shiro Kitamoto, Miyuki Tsuchihashi, Takeshi Sugaya, Israel F Charo, Shinobu Kura, Teruhisa Tsuzuki, Tatsuro Ishibashi, Akira Takeshita, Kensuke Egashira Critical role of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 receptor CCR2 on monocytes in hypertension-induced vascular inflammation and remodeling. *Circ Res.* 2004. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000126924.23467.A3
- 162. Elaine Wan, Xin Yi Yeap, Shirley Dehn, Rachael Terry, Margaret Novak, Shuang

Zhang, Shinichi Iwata, Xiaoqiang Han, Shunichi Homma, Konstantinos Drosatos, Jon Lomasney, David M Engman, Stephen D Miller, Douglas E Vaughan, John P Morrow, Raj Kishore, Edward B Thorp

Enhanced efferocytosis of apoptotic cardiomyocytes through myeloid-epithelialreproductive tyrosine kinase links acute inflammation resolution to cardiac repair after infarction. *Circ Res.* 2013. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301198

- 163. Lighthouse JK, Small EM.
 Transcriptional control of cardiac fibroblast plasticity. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2016. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015.12.016
- 164. Hermans KCM, Daskalopoulos EP, Blankesteijn WM.
 The Janus face of myofibroblasts in the remodeling heart. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2016. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015.11.017
- Rienks M, Papageorgiou AP.
 Novel regulators of cardiac inflammation: Matricellular proteins expand their repertoire. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2016. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2016.01.008
- 166. Weber KT, Sun Y, Bhattacharya SK, Ahokas RA, Gerling IC.
 Myofibroblast-mediated mechanisms of pathological remodelling of the heart. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2013. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2012.158
- 167. Davis J, Molkentin JD.
 Myofibroblasts: Trust your heart and let fate decide. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*. 2014. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.10.019
- 168. Maylis Dagouassat, Nadine Suffee, Hanna Hlawaty, Oualid Haddad, Faten Charni, Christelle Laguillier, Roger Vassy, Loïc Martin, Pierre-Olivier Schischmanoff, Liliane Gattegno, Olivier Oudar, Angela Sutton, Nathalie Charnaux Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1)/CCL2 secreted by hepatic myofibroblasts promotes migration and invasion of human hepatoma cells. *Int J Cancer*. 2010. doi:10.1002/ijc.24800
- 169. Wibke Bechtel, Scott McGoohan, Elisabeth M Zeisberg, Gerhard A Müller, Hubert Kalbacher, David J Salant, Claudia A Müller, Raghu Kalluri, Michael Zeisberg Methylation determines fibroblast activation and fibrogenesis in the kidney. *Nat Med*. 2010. doi:10.1038/nm.2135
- 170. Leask A.

Getting to the heart of the matter: New insights into cardiac fibrosis. *Circ Res.* 2015. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.305381

- 171. Rios FJ, Touyz RM, Montezano AC.
 Isolation and differentiation of murine macrophages. In: *Methods in Molecular Biology*.; 2017. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-6625-7_23
- 172. Patrick Schmerler, Sarah Jeuthe, Darach O H-Ici, Katharina Wassilew, Dilyara Lauer, Elena Kaschina, Ulrich Kintscher, Susanne Müller, Frédéric Muench, Titus Kuehne, Felix Berger, Thomas Unger, Ulrike Muscha Steckelings, Ludovit Paulis, Daniel Messroghli

Mortality and morbidity in different immunization protocols for experimental autoimmune myocarditis in rats. *Acta Physiol*. 2014. doi:10.1111/apha.12227

- 173. Daniela Ruffell, Foteini Mourkioti, Adriana Gambardella, Peggy Kirstetter, Rodolphe G. Lopez, Nadia Rosenthal, and Claus Nerlov
 A CREB-C/EBP cascade induces M2 macrophage-specific gene expression and promotes muscle injury repair. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2009. doi:10.1073/pnas.0908641106
- 174. Jia Xue, Susanne V Schmidt, Jil Sander, Astrid Draffehn, Wolfgang Krebs, Inga Quester, Dominic De Nardo, Trupti D Gohel, Martina Emde, Lisa Schmidleithner Hariharasudan Ganesan, Andrea Nino-Castro, Michael R Mallmann, Larisa Labzin, Heidi Theis, Michael Kraut, Marc Beyer, Eicke Latz, Tom C Freeman, Thomas Ulas 1, Joachim L Schultze

Transcriptome-Based Network Analysis Reveals a Spectrum Model of Human Macrophage Activation. *Immunity*. 2014. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01.006

- 175. LauraCampbell, ElaineEmmerson, HelenWilliams1Charis R.Saville, AndréeKrust, PierreChambon, Kimberly A.Mace, Matthew J.Hardman Estrogen receptor-alpha promotes alternative macrophage activation during cutaneous repair. J Invest Dermatol. 2014. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.175
- Bolego C, Cignarella A, Staels B, Chinetti-Gbaguidi G.
 Macrophage function and polarization in cardiovascular disease a role of estrogen signaling? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2013. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.301328
- 177. Gillian S Ashcroft, Stuart J Mills, KeJian Lei, Linda Gibbons, Moon-Jin Jeong, Marisu Taniguchi, Matthew Burow, Michael A Horan, Sharon M Wahl, Toshinori Nakayama Estrogen modulates cutaneous wound healing by downregulating macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *J Clin Invest*. 2003. doi:10.1172/JCI16288
- 178. Fairweather D, Petri MA, Coronado MJ, Cooper LT.Autoimmune heart disease: role of sex hormones and autoantibodies in disease

pathogenesis. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2012. doi:10.1586/eci.12.10

- Huber SA, Job LP, Auld KR.
 Influence of sex hormones on Coxsackie B-3 virus infection in Balb/c mice. *Cell Immunol.* 1982. doi:10.1016/0008-8749(82)90210-6
- 180. Zandman-Goddard G, Peeva E, Shoenfeld Y.Gender and autoimmunity. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2007. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2006.10.001
- 181. Barin JG, Rose NR, Čiháková D.
 Macrophage diversity in cardiac inflammation: A review. *Immunobiology*. 2012. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2011.06.009
- 182. Siednienko J, Halle A, Nagpal K, Golenbock DT, Miggin SM. TLR3-mediated IFN-β gene induction is negatively regulated by the TLR adaptor MyD88 adaptor-like. *Eur J Immunol*. 2010. doi:10.1002/eji.201040547
- Wynn TA, Vannella KM.
 Macrophages in Tissue Repair, Regeneration, and Fibrosis. *Immunity*. 2016. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.015
- 184. Mantovani A, Sica A, Sozzani S, Allavena P, Vecchi A, Locati M. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends Immunol.* 2004. doi:10.1016/j.it.2004.09.015
- 185. Keselman A, Fang X, White PB, Heller NM. Estrogen Signaling Contributes to Sex Differences in Macrophage Polarization during Asthma. J Immunol. 2017. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1601975
- 186. Estatira Sepehr, Marketa Lebl-Rinnova, Meagan K Mann, Samantha L Pisani, Mona I Churchwell, Donna L Korol, John A Katzenellenbogen, Daniel R Doerge Pharmacokinetics of the estrogen receptor subtype-selective ligands, PPT and DPN: Quantification using UPLC-ES/MS/MS. *J Pharm Biomed Anal*. 2012. doi:10.1016/j.jpba.2012.08.022
- Luo N, Guan Q, Zheng L, Qu X, Dai H, Cheng Z.
 Estrogen-mediated activation of fibroblasts and its effects on the fibroid cell proliferation. *Transl Res.* 2014. doi:10.1016/j.trsl.2013.11.008
- 188. Thornton MJ.
 Estrogens and aging skin. *Dermatoendocrinol*. 2013. doi:10.4161/derm.23872
- 189. Wynn T.

Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. *J Pathol J Pathol*. 2008;214:199-210. doi:10.1002/path.2277

- 190. Mei Sun , Manyin Chen, Fayez Dawood, Urszula Zurawska, Jeff Y Li, Thomas Parker, Zamaneh Kassiri, Lorrie A Kirshenbaum, Malcolm Arnold, Rama Khokha, Peter P Liu Tumor necrosis factor-α mediates cardiac remodeling and ventricular dysfunction after pressure overload state. *Circulation*. 2007. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.643585
- 191. Xiao L, Du Y, Shen Y, He Y, Zhao H, Li Z.
 TGF-Beta1 induced fibroblast proliferation is mediated by the FGF-2/ERK pathway. *Front Biosci.* 2012. doi:10.2741/4077
- 192. Mclarty JL, Li J, Levick SP, Janicki JS. estrogen modulates the influence of cardiac inflammatory cells on function of cardiac fibroblasts Background: Inflammatory cells play a major role in the pathology of heart failure by stimu. *J Inflamm Res.* 2013;6:99-108. doi:10.2147/JIR.S48422
- 193. T.Wynn LB.Macrophages Master Regulators of Inflammation and Fibrosis. 2010.
- 194. Wynn TA, Ramalingam TR.
 Mechanisms of fibrosis: Therapeutic translation for fibrotic disease. *Nat Med.* 2012. doi:10.1038/nm.2807
- 195. Wynn T a.

Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. J Pathol. 2008. doi:10.1002/path.2277

- 196. Barrientos S, Stojadinovic O, Golinko MS, Brem H, Tomic-Canic M. G rowth factors and cytokines in wound healing. *Wound Repair Regen*. 2008. doi:10.1111/j.1524-475X.2008.00410.x
- 197. Liu X, Fang S, Liu H3, Wang X, Dai X, Yin Q, Yun T, Wang W, Zhang Y, Liao H, Zhang W, Yao H, Chao J.
 Role of human pulmonary fibroblast-derived MCP-1 in cell activation and migration in experimental silicosis. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* 2015. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2015.07.002
- 198. Deshmane SL, Kremlev S, Amini S, Sawaya BE.
 Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1): An Overview. *J Interf Cytokine Res*.
 2009. doi:10.1089/jir.2008.0027
- 199. Jeremy B Swann, Matthew D Vesely, Anabel Silva, Janelle Sharkey, Shizuo Akira, Robert D Schreiber, Mark J Smyth Demonstration of inflammation-induced cancer and cancer immunoediting during primary tumorigenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2008. doi:10.1073/pnas.0708594105
- 200. Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR.

Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. *J Clin Invest.* 2007. doi:10.1172/JCI29881

- 201. Thompson K, Maltby J, Fallowfield J, McAulay M, Millward-Sadler H, Sheron N. Interleukin-10 expression and function in experimental murine liver inflammation and fibrosis. *Hepatology*. 1998. doi:10.1002/hep.510280620
- 202. Toru Arai, Kin'Ya Abe, Hiroto Matsuoka, Mitsuhiro Yoshida, Masahide Mori, Sho Goya, Hiroshi Kida, Kazumi Nishino, Tadashi Osaki, Isao Tachibana, Yasufumi Kaneda, and Seiji Hayashi Introduction of the interleukin-10 gene into mice inhibited bleomycin-induced lung injury in vivo. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. 2000.
- 203. Moore KW, De Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O 'garra A.
 INTERLEUKIN-10 AND THE INTERLEUKIN-10 RECEPTOR. Annu Rev Immunol.
 2001. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.683
- 204. Alexa B Kimball, Tatsuyoshi Kawamura, Krupali Tejura, Carol Boss, Ana R Hancox, Jonathan C Vogel, Seth M Steinberg, Maria L Turner, Andrew Blauvelt Clinical and immunologic assessment of patients with psoriasis in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial using recombinant human interleukin 10. *Arch Dermatol*. 2002. doi:10.1001/archderm.138.10.1341
- 205. H Tilg, C van Montfrans, A van den Ende, A Kaser1, S J H van Devente, S Schreiber3, M Gregor, O Ludwiczek, P Rutgeerts, C Gasche, J C Koningsberger, L Abreu, I Kuhn, M Cohard, A LeBeaut, P Grint, G Weiss
 Treatment of Crohn's disease with recombinant human interleukin 10 induces the proinflammatory cytokine interferon *γ*. *Gut*. 2002. doi:10.1136/gut.50.2.191
- 206. Ridker PM, Thuren T, Zalewski A, Libby P.
 Interleukin-1β inhibition and the prevention of recurrent cardiovascular events:
 Rationale and Design of the Canakinumab Anti-inflammatory Thrombosis Outcomes
 Study (CANTOS). *Am Heart J.* 2011. doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2011.06.012
- 207. Anusha A, Kumar S, Kaushik S, Jyoti A.Cancer immunotherapy. *J Pharm Sci Res.* 2017. doi:10.1016/j.molonc.2012.01.002
- 208. Harel-Adar T, Mordechai T Ben, Amsalem Y, Feinberg MS, Leor J, Cohen S. Modulation of cardiac macrophages by phosphatidylserine-presenting liposomes improves infarct repair. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2011. doi:10.1073/pnas.1015623108
- 209. Uwe Kühl H-PS.Myokarditis. *Dtsch Arztebl.* 2012;109. doi:10.3238/arztebl.2012.0361

- 210. Moonen M, Lancellotti P.Update on myocarditis. *Rev Med Liege*. 2018. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.09.074
- 211. Oertelt-Prigione S.
 The influence of sex and gender on the immune response. *Autoimmun Rev.*2012;11:A479-A485. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2011.11.022

11 Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Ich, Maximilian Heinrich Niehues, versichere an Eides statt durch meine eigenhändige Unterschrift, dass ich die vorgelegte Dissertation mit dem Thema: "Sex differences in macrophage polarization in experimental autoimmune myocarditis (EAM)/Geschlechterunterschiede in der Makrophagen Polarisation bei experimenteller autoimmuner Myokarditis (EAM)" selbstständig und ohne nicht offengelegte Hilfe Dritter verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel genutzt habe.

Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder dem Sinne nach auf Publikationen oder Vorträgen anderer Autoren/innen beruhen, sind als solche in korrekter Zitierung kenntlich gemacht. Die Abschnitte zu Methodik (insbesondere praktische Arbeiten, Laborbestimmungen, statistische Aufarbeitung) und Resultaten (insbesondere Abbildungen, Graphiken und Tabellen) werden von mir verantwortet.

Ich versichere ferner, dass ich die in Zusammenarbeit mit anderen Personen generierten Daten, Datenauswertungen und Schlussfolgerungen korrekt gekennzeichnet und meinen eigenen Beitrag sowie die Beiträge anderer Personen korrekt kenntlich gemacht habe (siehe Anteilserklärung). Texte oder Textteile, die gemeinsam mit anderen erstellt oder verwendet wurden, habe ich korrekt kenntlich gemacht.

Meine Anteile an etwaigen Publikationen zu dieser Dissertation entsprechen denen, die in der untenstehenden gemeinsamen Erklärung mit dem/der Erstbetreuer/in, angegeben sind. Für sämtliche im Rahmen der Dissertation entstandenen Publikationen wurden die Richtlinien des ICMJE (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors; <u>www.icmje.og</u>) zur Autorenschaft eingehalten. Ich erkläre ferner, dass ich mich zur Einhaltung der Satzung der Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin zur Sicherung Guter Wissenschaftlicher Praxis verpflichte.

Weiterhin versichere ich, dass ich diese Dissertation weder in gleicher noch in ähnlicher Form bereits an einer anderen Fakultät eingereicht habe.

Die Bedeutung dieser eidesstattlichen Versicherung und die strafrechtlichen Folgen einer unwahren eidesstattlichen Versicherung (§§156, 161 des Strafgesetzbuches) sind mir bekannt und bewusst."

Datum

Unterschrift

12 Anteilserklärung an erfolgten Publikationen

Ich, Maximilian Heinrich Niehues, hatte folgenden Anteil an den folgenden Publikationen:

Präsentation von Daten meiner Dissertation in Form eines Posterbeitrags auf vier verschiedenen Kongressen (es handelt sich um die Präsentation derselben unten aufgeführten Daten):

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek V, "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis", DZHK partner site retreat, 2019

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek V, "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis", World Cogress on Inflammation (WCI), 2019

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek V, "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis". International Society for Hear Research (ISHR), 2019.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek V, "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis", I & I, 2019

Die EAM Protokolle selbst wurden nicht von mir durchgeführt. Ebenfalls nicht von mir stammen die Erhebungen der klinischen Daten von EAM Versuchstieren (Ejektionsfraktion und Schlagvolumen). Von mir kommen die Sirius Red Färbungen und die Berechnung der Fibrosebildung in Herzschnitten von EAM Versuchstieren. Nicht von mir stammen die CD68+ ArgI+ immunhistochemischen Färbungen der Herzschnitte, sowie die Berechnung des Anteils myokardialer Infiltrate.Von mir durchgeführt wurden die PCR-Untersuchungen der Genexpression und Western Blot Untersuchungen in Herzgewebe von EAM Versuchstieren. Darüber hinaus sind von mir durchgeführt worden: die Stimulationsexperimente mit aus Mäuseknochenmark entnommenen Makrophagen, und aus Mäuseherzen entnommenen Fibroblasten und die Untersuchung der Genexpression in diesen Zellen.

Von mir stammen die Durchführung und Auswertung der:

- Sirius Red F\u00e4rbungen der Herzschnitte, Berechnung des Anteils an Fibrose (Figure 3 A und B)
- Western Blot Untersuchung von Col3A1 in EAM Ratten Herzgewebe (Figure 3C)
- PCR Untersuchungen der c-fos und IL-6 Expression in EAM Ratten Herzgewebe (Figure 4 A und B)
- \circ PCR Untersuchungen der IL1 Beta, TNF-α und NFκB Expression in LPS und IFN-y behandelten Makrophagen (Figure 5 A C)
- ο PCR Untersuchungen der MCP-1, IL1 Beta, TGF- β 1, Expression in TNF- α und TGF- β behandelten Makropahgen (Figure 6 A F)

Maria Luisa Barcena, Sarah Jeuthe, Maximilian Heinrich Niehues, Sofya Podzniakova, Anja Andrea Kühl, Daniel Messroghli, Vera Regitz-Zagrosek, "Sex-specific differences of the inflammatory stage in experimental autoimmune myocarditis" Journal: Frontiers in Immunology, 2021 Von mir stammen die Durchführung der Experimente und Auswertung aus denen die Figure 3A - 3C, Figure 4A und 4B, 5A - 5F hervorgegangen sind.

Unterschrift, Datum und Stempel des/der erstbetreuenden Hochschullehrers/in

Unterschrift des Doktoranden/der Doktorandin

13 Curriculum Vitae

Mein Lebenslauf wird aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen in der elektronischen Version meiner Arbeit nicht veröffentlicht.

14 Publikationen

Maria Luisa Barcena, Sarah Jeuthe, Maximilian Heinrich Niehues, Sofya Podzniakova, Anja Andrea Kühl, Daniel Messroghli, Vera Regitz-Zagrosek, "Sex-specific differences of the inflammatory stage in experimental autoimmune myocarditis" Journal: Frontiers in Immunology, 2021

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek V. (2019). "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis." DZHK partner site retreat 2019.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek V. (2019). "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis." WCI 2019.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek V. (2019) "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis." ISHR 2019.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Jeuthe S, Messroghli D, Regitz-Zagrosek. (2019). "Sex differences in the cardiac inflammatory response in rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis." I & I 2019.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Pannwitz D, Beling A, Regitz-Zagrosek V. (2017). "Sex differences in oestrogen-dependent macrophage activation in cardiac chronic inflammation." ESC 2017.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Beling A, Regitz-Zagrosek V. (2017). "Sex differences in oestrogen-dependent macrophage activation in cardiac chronic inflammation." ISHR 2017.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues, Berchtold D, Beling A, Regitz-Zagrosek V. (2017). "Sex differences in oestrogen-dependent macrophage activation in cardiac chronic inflammation." DGK Kongress 2017.

Barcena de Arellano ML, Niehues M, Berchtold D, Regitz-Zagrosek V. (2016). "Sex differences in oestrogen-dependent macrophage-fibroblast interaction in cardiac inflammation." IASP 2016

15 Danksagung

Ich möchte die folgenden Sätze nutzen um den Menschen zu danken, die mich bei meinen ersten Schritten im wissenschaftlichen Arbeiten unterstützt haben. Sei es durch wertvolle fachliche Ratschläge, die mich vor dem Betreten einiger Sackgasse bewahrt haben. Oder durch motivierende Worte, wenn ich mich doch einmal in einer solchen verirrt habe.

Zuerst möchte ich hier Prof. Dr. med. Dr. h. c. Regitz-Zagrosek danken. Dafür, dass Sie mir die Chance gegeben hat in dem hochinteressanten und vor allem relevanten Gebiet der Geschlechter Medizin zu forschen. Während meiner Laborarbeit in ihrer Arbeitsgruppe durfte ich die Schnittmengen aktueller kardiologischer und immunologischer Forschung vor dem Hintergrund der Geschlechter Medizin kennen lernen. Die Erkenntnis, dass Männer und Frauen unterschiedliche krank werden möchte ich auch in meine klinische Tätigkeit als Internist einfließen lassen.

Die wichtigste Ansprechpartnerin während der Durchführung der Experimente, aber auch bei der eigentlichen Erstellung der Dissertation war für mich Dr. Luisa Maria Barcena. Ich möchte ihr dafür danken, dass Sie zu jeder Zeit ein offenes Ohr für meine Fragen und Anregungen hatte (davon gab es einige). Und, dass Sie bei den Durststrecken (auch davon gab es einige) immer die richtigen Worte gefunden hat meine Aufmerksamkeit wieder auf das Ziel der Anstrengungen zu richten.

16 Bescheinigung Statistik

CHARITÉ

CharitéCentrum für Human- und Gesundheitswissenschaften

Charité | Campus Charité Mitte | 10117 Berlin

Name, Vorname: Niehues, Maximilian

PromotionsbetreuerIn: Maria Barcena de Arellano Promotionsinstitution/ Klinik: Institut für Institut für Biometrie und klinische Epidemiologie (iBikE)

Direktor: Prof. Dr. Geraldine Rauch

Postantschrift: Charitéplatz 1 | 10117 Berlin Besucheranschrift: Reinhardtstr. 58 | 10117 Berlin

Tel. +49 (0)30 450 562171 geraldine.rauch@charite.de https://biometrie.charite.de/



Bescheinigung

Geschlechterforschung

Emailadresse:

Matrikelnummer:

Hiermit bescheinige ich, dass Herr Maximilian Niehues innerhalb der Service Unit Biometrie des Instituts für Biometrie und klinische Epidemiologie (iBikE) bei mir eine statistische Beratung zu einem Promotionsvorhaben wahrgenommen hat. Folgende Beratungstermine wurden wahrgenommen:

- Termin 1: 16.08.2019
- Termin 2: 22.10.2019

Folgende wesentliche Ratschläge hinsichtlich einer sinnvolle Auswertung und Interpretation der Daten wurden während der Beratung erteilt:

- Mehrfache Verwendung der Two-Way ANOVA
- Hinweis zur Adjustierung des Signifikanzniveaus im multiplen Testproblem
- Deskription der Daten

Diese Bescheinigung garantiert nicht die richtige Umsetzung der in der Beratung gemachten Vorschläge, die korrekte Durchführung der empfohlenen statistischen Verfahren und die richtige Darstellung und Interpretation der Ergebnisse. Die Verantwortung hierfür obliegt allein dem Promovierenden. Das Institut für Biometrie und klinische Epidemiologie übernimmt hierfür keine Haftung.

Datum: 22.10.2019

Name des Beraters/ der Beraterin: Kerstin Rubarth

Unterschrift BeraterIn, Institutsstempel

107